



Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

Employee Retention Strategies for Executive Operation Leaders in an Academic Nursing Environment

Polly Castro Ramos Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Overage of Part of the Education Commons, and the Nursing Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Polly Castro Ramos

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Chad Sines, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Jaime Klein, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Patsy Kasen, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2019

Abstract

Employee Retention Strategies for Executive Operation Leaders in an Academic Nursing

Environment

by

Polly Castro Ramos

MBA, University of Phoenix, 2008 BSBM, University of Phoenix, 2003

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2019

Abstract

Employee attrition affects organizations in the form of lower productivity, decreased profitability, and reduced sustainability. In 2014, business owners lost over \$11 billion in tangible and intangible assets due to the inability to retain employees. Using the social exchange theory as the conceptual framework, the purpose of this multiple case study was to explore effective employee retention strategies used by business leaders in an academic nursing environment. The study encompassed participants from 3 of the United States: Texas, Kentucky, and Florida. Participants were purposefully selected because of their experience in implementing effective employee retention strategies. Data were collected via semistructured interviews with 4 business leaders. Data were analyzed using inductive coding of phrases, word frequency searches, and theme interpretation. Three themes emerged from the analysis of data: supportive leadership assisted in the retention of employees, growth and development opportunities for employees continued their commitment with the organization, and a robust and focused onboarding process was a critical component of creating the culture and commitment from the employee from the onset of their employment. This study might contribute to social change by providing business leaders in academic nursing environments with valuable insights related to employee retention that can lead to enhanced sustainability, improved organizational growth, and increased profitability, which might promote prosperity for local families and the community.

Employee Retention Strategies for Executive Operation Leaders in an Academic Nursing Environment

by

Polly Castro Ramos

MBA, University of Phoenix, 2008 BSBM, University of Phoenix, 2003

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2019

Dedication

I dedicate the ability to complete this process to my Mother, Rita Castro. No greater love that have I known or felt, than that love I have for her. She never gave up on me and stood by me as I continued each of my educational journeys. Her passing was significant in so many ways, and her presence and support were felt throughout the writing of this study. To my sister Cipriana Salazar, was significant in my personal growth and through her challenges, I learned so much. I will see you and Mom in heaven! To my brothers Lee Ramos, Esequiel Ramos, and Wally Ramos – thank you for putting up with my constant "I'm studying" response. While you may not have written one word in this dissertation, I thought of each of you as I worked diligently to finish and wanted to make each of you proud!

I also thank my two children, Teresa Hope Williams and Desiree Marie Escobedo. Their presence in my life has been a blessing. The challenges and joys of raising children on your own gives you a perspective of what is needed to accept your shortfalls and get back up to finish what I started. I am blessed to have my four grandchildren, Tristian Keith Clendenen, Mathew Scott Clendenen, Isabella Hope Williams, and Austin Charles Genzer. You are all so very special to me. No matter what your dreams, you can achieve them!

Finally, and not least, to my future husband, Brian Lee Archer. The significance of you coming into my life as I finish this chapter of my study and finally finding you are both dreams I thought could not be mine. Thank you for your love and support – here's to an amazing journey that awaits us!

Acknowledgments

My mother was with me through each education graduation. This doctorate is dedicated to her. As I embarked on this journey, her spirit was with me. I am blessed to have had you as a mother and friend. You changed my life in more ways than I understood. You blessed our family, my brothers, my sister, my children and my grandchildren with so much love. Your quiet ways and gentle spirit carry me forward even now. I love you, Mom, and miss you more than I can ever say.

Table of Contents

Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Theoretical Framework	5
Operational Definitions	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	8
Delimitations	8
Significance of the Study	9
Contribution to Business Practice	9
Implications for Social Change	10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
Social Exchange Theory	11
Job Characteristics Theory	13
Person-Organization Fit	15

	Corporate Social Responsibility and Social Exchange Theory	17
	Leadership	19
	Transformational Leadership	21
	Organizational Culture	23
	Succession Planning.	25
	Employee Retention	28
	Voluntary Turnover	32
	Training and Development	39
	Benefits and Compensation	42
Т	Fransition	43
Secti	ion 2: The Project	44
P	Purpose Statement	44
F	Role of the Researcher	45
F	Participants	49
F	Research Method and Design	51
	Research Method	52
	Research Design.	52
P	Population and Sampling	54
E	Ethical Research	56
Ι	Data Collection Instruments	58
Ι	Data Collection Technique	61

Data Organization Technique	62
Data Analysis	63
Reliability and Validity	66
Reliability	66
Validity	67
Transition and Summary	69
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	71
Introduction	71
Presentation of the Findings.	71
Onboarding Process	74
Valued Employees	75
Growth and Advancement	76
Communication and Trust	77
Applications to Professional Practice	79
Implications for Social Change	81
Recommendations for Action	83
Recommendations for Further Research.	83
Reflections	84
Conclusion	85
References	88
Appendix A: Multicase Study Protocol	130

Appendix B: Confidentiality Agreement	133
Appendix C: Interview Questions	135

List	of	Tab!	les
------	----	------	-----

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Businesses must develop long-term strategies to compete for qualified employees while retaining trained staff in a complex and competitive marketplace (Kossivi, Zu, & Kalgora, 2016). To remain viable and sustainable, employers must effectively motivate and manage employees for long-term commitment while developing competencies essential to the overall growth of the organization. Without qualified employees, leaders will be unable to implement strategies to meet current and future goals of the organization. In this study, I explored the effects employee retention may have on an organization's stability and future growth. Pengqian, Xiangli, Lingxiao, Xiaoyam, and Zi (2014) demonstrated that retention strategies are becoming one of the leading reasons organizations are successful. Leaders in an academic nursing operation must have the ability to strategically retain employees and position the academic environment to graduate nursing students as well as reduce costly employee turnover.

The concern over employee retention in an academic nursing operation will ultimately affect the ability of healthcare organizations to address healthcare concerns of an aging population. Skilled employees are a critical aspect of an organization's success. Kossivi et al. (2016) discussed the importance of business leaders developing long-term strategies to compete for qualified workers and retaining trained staff in a competitive workforce. Leaders will be unable to implement strategic goals without qualified staff.

Background of the Problem

Employee replacement costs to an organization vary according to the salary and the position the employee has within the organization (Merhar, 2013). Business owners

recognize that an organization's most valuable assets are its employees (Mullins & Schoar, 2016). Merhar (2013) found employee replacement for lower-paying jobs (around \$30,000 a year) will cost an organization 16% of the employee's annual salary. The problem facing business leaders is the retention of employees and voluntary turnover (Kryscynski & Ulrich, 2015). The annual resignation rate in the United States is approximately 25%, which corporate America cannot afford (Allen, Bryant, & Vardaman, 2010).

Successful leaders listen to the feedback of employees and work towards meeting employees' needs and expectations (Johnson, 2017). The company that does not focus on meeting employee expectations may risk losing the employee to the competition.

Palanski, Avey, and Jiraporn (2014) posited when an employee leaves the company, the result depletes recruiting budgets. Understanding the expectations of employees opens the opportunity for a fair and diverse environment, opportunities, and employee retention. Employees with work-life balance typically have better performance at work (Demerouti, Peeters, & van der Heijden, 2014). Campione (2014) posited that employees with higher work satisfaction resulted in increased retention and stronger employee commitment. A successful organizational unit involves employees and leadership working together to meet the goals of the company (Scott & Davis, 2015). The inability to retain employees may negatively influence employee morale and organizational effectiveness.

Problem Statement

Bhattacharyya, Mahajan, Ghosdal, Yadav, and Rai (2015) suggested that employee turnover costs an organization between 90% and 200% of the annual salary for

replacement of that position. According to the Center for American Progress, loss of an employee can cost an organization 16% of a lower-paid employee's salary and as much as 213% of the salary of an employee in a management level position (Schulman, 2017). The general business problem is that employee retention directly affects an organization's profits and sustainability. The specific business problem is that some business leaders in an academic nursing environment lack strategies to retain employees.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore strategies business leaders use to retain employees in an academic nursing environment. The participants included four business leaders who successfully used employee retention strategies in academic nursing environments in Texas, Kentucky, and Florida. The information from this case study may lead to social benefits in that the results may improve the quality of nursing students graduating and ultimately improve a patient's life through superior patient care.

Nature of the Study

The focus of this study was to explore strategies business leaders use to retain employees in an academic nursing environment. McCusker and Gunavdin (2015) emphasized three main research methodologies: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. Qualitative researchers seek to arrive at an understanding of an occurrence from the perspective of those experiencing the event (Corbin, Strauss, & Strauss, 2014). The qualitative method was the most appropriate method for this study to obtain answers for the research question, which asks *what* and *why* for the strategies business leaders use to

retain employees. Researchers employing quantitative methodologies seek to explain the relationship and differences among variables (Ritchie & Ormstrom, 2014). Since I was not testing a hypothesis or theory nor gathering data for inferential statistics, the quantitative approach was not appropriate for this study. Researchers use the mixed method to combine both qualitative and quantitative methods to understand the cause of an issue and not to find a solution to the problem (Goldman et al., 2015). The mixed methods approach was not appropriate for this study because my research focused on life experiences and quantitative and mixed methods both use mathematical data.

Ethnography, phenomenology, narrative, and case studies research are basic qualitative designs. An ethnographic design focuses on exploring an entire grouping of individuals to gain an understanding of their culture (Eika, Dale, Espies, & Valmik, 2015). An ethnographic design was not appropriate for this study because I did not concentrate on exploring an entire grouping of individuals to gain an understanding of their culture. Marshall and Rossman (2014) defined a phenomenological study as an inquiry used by a researcher to identify the meanings of common human experiences or phenomena (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). I did not seek to discover the meanings of participants' lived experiences; therefore, a phenomenological study was not an appropriate design for this study. Wolgemuth (2014) described the narrative design as an author's description of a phenomenon and the researcher could miss details and themes from the participants. The narrative design was not appropriate for my study because I did not collect data through a series of stories and individual experiences. Case studies are an inquiry where the researcher targets an in-depth examination of an individual, a

program, activity, or a process (Yin, 2014). The research design for this study was a qualitative case study. The case study design was most appropriate because I sought to explore real-life experiences by collecting information, analyzing the data, and uncovering the relevant themes to address the specific business problem.

Research Question

The following research question guided this study:

RQ: What strategies do business leaders use to retain employees in an academic nursing environment?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use for employee retention?
- 2. How does your interpersonal relationship with employees affect your ability to manage employee retention?
- 3. How has onboarding impacted employee retention?
- 4. What barriers do you experience with implementing employee retention strategies?
- 5. How does your leadership style impact employee retention?
- 6. What additional information would you like to share on this topic?

Theoretical Framework

I used the social exchange theory (SET) as the theoretical framework for this study. In 1961, Homans introduced SET (Treviqo & Tilly, 2015). In his theory, Homans used a psychological approach and attempted to explain individual perceptions regarding power, status, conformity, and how leadership shapes human interactions (Thibaut,

2017). Homan's theory posited individuals are likely to repeat their behaviors if they predict positive results (Treviqo & Tilly, 2015). Under SET, the more value of the action an individual predicts, the more likely an individual will perform it, which in turn may predict employee retention and satisfaction (Judge & Zapata, 2015). Business researchers may find SET useful to explore the function a leader fulfills in promoting a sense of employee obligation and positive work attitude (Judge & Zapata, 2015).

High-performing companies with investments in technology will require employees with greater technical and professional skills. Asiedu (2015) described three drivers that tend to influence employee loyalty: fairness, care, and concern for employees. High levels of trust between employee and employers led to more dedicated employees, thereby driving retention (Asiedu, 2015). Investing in professional development will yield employees with confidence and commitment to the organization. Banks et al. (2014) indicated perceived organizational support and leader-member exchange, which are both tenets of SET, are two valuable assessments in the investigation and understanding of worker interactions. Employees who receive positive feedback from their leaders will have a positive attitude, thereby increasing retention. Conversely, receiving negative feedback will bring job dissatisfaction, decreased motivation, and desire to leave the organization. SET was a useful framework for this study as business leaders must understand all key factors that may lead to the retention of employees.

Operational Definitions

Change management: Change management is the process of promoting change by creating a vision through clear understanding of the strategic objectives the organization wants to achieve and identifying the necessary actions to reach those objectives (Belias & Koustelios, 2014).

Context-emergent turnover theory (CET): CET is a theory that conceptualizes human resources capital as collective turnover of the knowledge, skills, abilities, and other characteristics of employee turnover (Call, Nyberg, Ployhart, & Weekley, 2015).

Job characteristics theory (JCT): Hackman, Lawler, and Oldham (2015) designed the job characteristics model and identified the JCT as the specific task that motivates an employee, i.e., monotonous job stifles motivation, whereas a challenging job motivates the employee.

Social exchange theory (SET): SET states that training contributes to positive attributes in the workplace increasing employee retention due to perceived organizational support, employer development, job satisfaction, and psychological contract fulfillment (King, 2016).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are conditions we accept as true or plausible (Grant, 2014). In this study, I assumed that the participants would understand the open-ended interview questions and would respond with information-rich and honest answers. Leedy and Ormond (2013) suggested that assumptions are self-evident conditions taken for granted

by researchers. I also assumed the participants would respond to the open-ended interview questions without the fear of experiencing coercion in any way. I assumed the participants would offer an opportunity to explore common themes involving retention strategies that may reflect similar experiences other business leaders have encountered when addressing employee retention concerns.

Limitations

Limitations are threats to the study's internal validity and may coincide with the researcher's intention and results (Becton, Gilstrap, & Forsyth, 2017). One limitation was the participants may have had a bias. Another limitation was restricting the data collected to the participant's experience and not from a reflection or interpretation of the organization's management team. A final limitation was the data relied on personal opinions that are subjective in nature.

Delimitations

Delimitations define a study's boundaries and propositions (Yin, 2014). Schwarzfeld and Sperling (2014) indicated that delimitations are the boundaries of the study set by the researcher so that their goals do not become difficult to accomplish. The first delimitation was the sample size. I interviewed a small sample of four business leaders. A larger sample size would have added additional time and cost. The second delimitation was the geographical location of the population, which only included Kentucky, Texas, and Florida. The data for a specific geographic area may not be representative of other geographic regions. Another delimitation of this study was the

narrow focus was on strategies business leaders used to retain employees in an academic nursing environment and did not include employees in other academic settings.

Significance of the Study

The participants in this study provided personal views of their experiences and challenges related to improving employee retention. Employee attrition is costly because it is expensive to recruit and develop new employees (Pengqian et al., 2014). The employee retention strategies incorporated by business leaders may lead to increased employee commitment, operational efficiencies and future growth opportunities.

Contribution to Business Practice

The results of this study may contribute to an organization's success by helping it incorporate best practices for the retention of employees. This study focused on the changing business and healthcare environment to better serve future generations with the nurses needed to care for the communities in which they reside. Further, the findings may provide insight to business leaders interested in developing skills that are useful in employee retention. This, in turn, may enhance organizational growth and employee satisfaction. Adopting best practices in the retention of employees may eliminate organizational disruption and reduce employee dissatisfaction due to turnover. The business ramifications of this study may be realized through the development of strategies to retain employees and reduce the cost of hiring new employees. Moreover, employee retention may contribute to business profitability and sustainability.

Implications for Social Change

Saha (2014) suggested social change begins with community leaders, business owners, and the people who live in the community and who share their success, inspire others, and change together for a better future. The results of my study may impact social change and influence a community because higher retention creates more stability for employee income that can provide support for businesses. Further, maximizing the workforce capabilities by retaining employees might increase tax revenues to support local and state governments.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative study was to provide business managers with strategies to deter discrimination complaints and develop programs and policies that will promote compliance with discrimination laws. In this literature review, I demonstrated that an effective strategic basis for the retention of employees occurred when business leaders listened to their staff, provided support, created a focused onboarding process, and promoted growth and development opportunities. The majority of the literature review emanates from the critical analysis and synthesis of previous research on strategies for the retention of employees.

The literature review consists of peer-reviewed articles, books, government reports, and other scholarly resources. *Ulrich's Periodical Directory* was the means for verifying articles are from recognized peer-reviewed journals. Of the 255 sources in this literature review, 135 were peer-reviewed articles, which represent 53% of the sources; 226 had a publication date less than five years old, which is 87% of the total sources.

I used the following databases searching for peer-reviewed articles applicable for this study: Google Scholar, Insight databases from the Walden University Library, Science Direct, Emerald Management Journals, Management and Organizational Studies, Lexis Nexis Academic, EBSCOhost, and ProQuest. To locate articles with precise information, I used literature relating to leadership and its effect on employee retention and its impact on an organization including reviewing data regarding employee commitment, change management, succession planning, and culture.

Social Exchange Theory

SET is the major foundational framework for organization research (Choi, Lotz, & Kim, 2014). SET provides a theoretical basis for human behavior and whether monetary considerations motivate that behavior. Homan (1961) was the first sociological theorist to focus on interpersonal exchanges in an organization (Treviqo & Tilly, 2015). A basis for the evaluation of concepts relating to distributive justice, balance, status, and solidarity within organizations and leadership was due to the Homan's work on dyadic exchange (Treviqo & Tilly, 2015). SET centers on the premise that interactions between a supervisor and subordinate could bring forth positive relationships based on reciprocity (Chughtai, Byrne, & Flood, 2015). When leadership and employees work in a harmonious state, the organization will thrive. Leadership and employees who feel they received care and matter in the organization will work hard for the common goal (Chughtai et al., 2015). Blau (2017) posited two types of exchanges could occur in human relationships; social and economic. The social aspect of the relationship is dependent on trust and feelings of obligation or belonging. The economic agreements in

place emphasized pay, performance, and other tangible items. The challenge for management is identifying those employees who are motivated by advancement through means other than hard work and task accomplishment (Blau, 2017).

Information communicated between a supervisor and subordinate can be exchanged in a variety of methods and using different tools. Performance appraisals are one of the more popular tools for exchanging information between a supervisor and subordinate on their contribution to an organization. The social connection between the supervisor and subordinate has a bearing on how the subordinate will respond and will provide context for the quality of the relationship moving forward (Pichler, 2012). If the subordinate views the ratings as negative, it may affect the employee's beliefs regarding fairness in the organization. A positive working relationship between the employee and the supervisor can moderate the reactions and lead to the employee's greater commitment to the organization (Pichler, 2012).

Sahu and Parthardikar (2014) posited that the SET follows the dyadic linkages in human behavior. Vahlhaus and Simon (2014) suggested that the working environment relationships between members of an organization could influence how an organization performs. Vahlhaus and Simon (2014) argued that SET has roots in working relationships research. Moreover, Zivnuska, Kacmar, and Valle (2017) understood the behavioral relationships of leaders through social behaviors as exchanges and indicated that tasks and performance are part of the ability to retain high-potential employees.

Job Characteristics Theory

JCT is one of the first theories regarding research into job satisfaction and originated by Hackman and Oldham in 1975. Schultz and Schultz (2010) posited that JCT is one of the most cited theories in job satisfaction research. The premises of JCT are that job characteristics (implying the design and implementation of workplace tasks) influence the attitudes of employees, level of motivation, and job satisfaction (Guerrero & Singh, 2013; Shultz & Shultz, 2010). Schultz and Schultz further suggested that because workers' personal characteristics vary among employees, the relationships between job characteristics and work-related outcomes do not influence the attitudes of all employees in the same way. The propositions of JCT have implied that a correlation should exist between job characteristics and employee job satisfaction (Nahrgang, Morgeson, & Hofmann, 2011).

JCT researchers have proposed that employees are more motivated to work and more satisfied if their jobs include certain core characteristics. These core job characteristics create a working climate that allows employees to experience beneficial personal and work-related outcomes (Nahrgang et al., 2011). There are five core job characteristics in JCT: skill variety, task identification, task significance, autonomy, and feedback (Shultz & Shultz, 2010). Schultz and Schultz (2010) further proposed that employees are more motivated to work and more satisfied if their jobs include certain core characteristics. These core job characteristics create a working climate where employees experience beneficial personal and work-related outcomes (Nahrgang et al.,

2011). Schultz and Shultz described the characteristics as the diverse talents, abilities, and competencies that an employee may require to perform their job.

The importance the employee places on their growth and development on the job may outline the strength of the relationship between the job characteristics and the personal and work-related outcomes (Schultz & Schultz, 2010). Hackman et al. (2015) identified action principles such as task identity and task significance to increase job satisfaction and employee motivation. Hackman et al. (2015) based the JCT on the idea that the task motivates employees when it is challenging and not boring or monotonous (Ali et al., 2014). Ali et al. (2014) posited that job characteristic theorists have put forth that the five critical job characteristics influence four personal and work-related outcomes: high internal work motivation, high quality work performance, high satisfaction with the work, and low turnover and absenteeism. The five job characteristics do not influence all employees in the same way. The relationships between the job dimensions and the personal and work-related outcomes can vary with the experiential states of individual employees (Hackman et al., 2015). Examples of experiential states include the workers' experienced meaningfulness of the work, experienced responsibility for work outcomes, knowledge of the results of work activities, and the intensities of the employee's need for continued growth (Shultz & Shultz, 2010).

Stengard, Bernhard-Oettel, Bernston, and Leinweber (2017) posited that the changing competitive marketplace has created the necessity for employees to take a more committed approach to their careers. Lack of reciprocal relationships at work creates an environment in which an employee feels locked-in to their current position (Stengard et

al., 2017). Unfortunately, some employees are not confident in their ability to obtain other employment and stay in their current position (Stengard et al., 2017). Researchers recently shifted their focus on why employees stay versus why employees choose to leave an organization (Peltokorpi, Allen, & Froese, 2015).

Holtom and Burch (2016) identified organizational embeddedness as consisting of three interrelated dimensions to include links, fit, and sacrifice. Peltokorpi et al. (2015) identified three key areas of job embeddedness that determine why employees stay with an organization: job-person fit, connection to colleagues, and work activities. Peltokorpi et al. (2015) posited that employees with a high level of embeddedness are less likely to leave an organization. Consequently, an employee who feels deeply embedded will have strong connections with other employees. Finally, Stengard et al. (2017) posited that employees who feel locked-in or at risk of becoming locked-in relates to their well-being (subjective health and symptoms of depression). Consequently, employees who feel locked-in may ultimately affect retention of not only the affected employee, but the feelings may spread to other employees as well (Stengard et al., 2017). Therefore, it is important for leadership to recognize the situation and commence preventative interventions (Stengard et al., 2017).

Person-Organization Fit

Memon, Salleh, Baharom, and Harun (2014) described person-organization fit theory as the psychological attachment of an employee to an organization, which creates the bond that factors in the decision to continue employment or voluntarily leave the organization. Employees are less likely to voluntarily leave an organization if they feel

their personal values connect to the company and its vision (Memon et al., 2014). Swider, Zimmerman, and Barrick (2015) researched person-organization fit that included three stages to generating suitable applicants for an organization. The three stages incorporated into the decision-making process were the generation of suitable applicants, maintaining the interest of the applicants, and influencing key applicants to accept a position with the organization (Swider et al., 2015). The recruitment phase of candidates is a critical process in which the focus is the confirmation of an applicant's connection to the organization. McDermott, Conway, Rousseau, and Flood (2013) agreed that leadership's ability to affect an employee is largely dependent on the fit of the employee with the organization's missions and values. Arbour, Kwantes, Kraft, and Boglarsky (2014) indicated that management could reduce voluntary employee turnover by assessing job satisfaction and organizational culture. There are criticisms in using individual and organizational values to conceptualize fit as the values that represent the organizations underlying culture (Arbour et al., 2014). Hauff, Richter, and Tressin (2015) discovered that the most important drivers of job satisfaction included an interesting job, good relations with management, and good relations with colleagues.

Organizational culture is difficult to measure, and the values affect perceptions of an organization and its leaders. Behavior norms may directly relate to job satisfaction, stress, and intentions to stay, but person-organization fit is focused on behavioral norms and is better suited to predict occupational outcomes (Arbour et al., 2014). Consequently, attitudes and behaviors may validate occupational outcomes and demonstrate how an employee fits in with the organization's culture and environment (Arbour et al., 2014).

Corporate Social Responsibility and Social Exchange Theory

Blau (2017) suggested that SET interactions are interdependent and contingent on the actions or inactions of employees. These interactions may generate strong internal relationships that will affect retention or the desire to stay with the organization (Blau, 2017). Wombacher and Felfe (2017) suggested that effective team and organizational commitment are important employee attachments in the workplace. Person-centered strategy studies seek to identify commitment mindsets such as affective, normative, and continuance, or to focus on target groups such as the organization or supervisors (Meyer, Morin, and Vandenberghe, 2015). Meyer et al. (2015) suggested a person-centered approach encompasses a holistic perspective versus a traditional variable-centered approach and may incorporate complex interactions among commitment mindsets or targets.

Corporate social responsibility (CSR) is part of overall business activity with recruitment and retention as part of the commitment businesses should strive to have in the community (Corlett & Morris, 2015). Bode, Singh, and Rogan (2015) posited that organizations are focusing on social mandate initiatives through critical aspects of employee retention. The link between the social initiatives and employee retention relates to motivation and identification. Corlett and Morris (2015) suggested that poor communication, lack of employee alignment, and low visibility of CSR culture in the organization are implications of an eroding social contract between the employee and the organization. Social structures in an organization support social exchange (Blau, 2017). From the perspective of SET, personal and organizational CSR fulfill certain social

activity opportunities between the organization and the employee (Corlett & Morris, 2015). Corlett and Morris (2015) posited that personal CSR does not necessarily reflect the employee's commitment to the organization. Finally, reciprocity is the basis of social exchange, and an employee's social commitment directly relates to the exchange and commitment from the organization. Carnahan, Kryscynski, and Olson (2017) suggested employees engaging in meaningful CSR activities at work may assist the organization in the retention of employees who may otherwise pursue career opportunities elsewhere.

Huang, Cheng, Fan-Huang, and Teng (2018) researched personality traits and how those personality traits relate to interdependence and network convergence. Huang et al. (2018) posited that extraversion and openness relate positively to interdependence and network convergence. Huang et al. (2018) suggested that interdependence and network convergence relate to continuance intention. Teng (2015) discussed interdependence as the degree an employee depends on other employees when making a decision and network convergence is introducing the employee with their core group from outside of work, such as family. Porter and Woo (2015) posited that SET is also applicable to the reasons why employees make networking decisions and seek work advice from other employees. Yan and Chen (2016) explained that the desire for an employee to share their knowledge regarding the organization and its practices directly relates to their perception of their self-worth and reputation. Consistent with the SET, Yan and Chen (2016) posited that the information shared by the employee are a direct correlation of the relationship between the employee and employer.

Leadership

Northouse (2018) defined effective leadership behavior as the method leaders use to guide the activities of employees to keep a balance between the achievement of organizational service goals and the functionality of the workplace. Yahaya and Ebrahim (2016) described effective leadership behavior as an antecedent for organizational sustainability, profitability, and competitiveness because it signals how well leadership is engaging and communicating with employees (Oshagbemi & Ocholi, 2013). Wong, Lui, and Tjosvold (2015) suggested that effective leadership promotes a workplace culture that embraces employee engagement as a strategy for improved service quality. Effective leadership behavior is essential to engaging employees in the achievement of organizational service goals (Sarti, 2014). Consequently, it creates an environment in which employees enthusiastically work hard to advance the organization's effectiveness and its delivery of service quality (Yoo & Arnold, 2014). Dinh et al. (2014) posited that 66 different leadership theories have emerged over the decades. Despite an increased interest in the field of leadership, there is no clear leadership style that stands out to be the best suitable style for the challenges business leaders may face in the future. This issue becomes critical due to the worldwide shortage of talent and the ability for business leaders to recruit future leaders for their organization (Oseghale, Mulyata, & Debrah, 2018).

Guillén, Ferrero, and Hoffman (2015) stressed that the dynamic and chaotic nature of the 21st century demands a flexible and adaptive leadership style in an organization. Guillén et al. (2015) further explained that the changing economic times

will require adaptive leadership skills to recognize new opportunities and adjust accordingly.

Business leaders may face extraordinary situations in which success is a function of their ability to develop innovative ways to meet the needs of the organization (Dibrell, Craig, & Neubaum, 2014). Shifts in technology, business, and the changing economic environment present a variety of opportunities (Zdanyte & Neverauskas, 2014). Leadership comprises a variety of traits that include charisma, behaviors, and skills. Leadership is a process whereby one person influences a group to achieve a common goal (Northouse, 2018). People are the greatest assets of an organization, and the investment in these assets may influence retention of employees (Beynon, Jones, Pickernell, & Packham, 2015).

A strong organizational structure can help maintain the organizational behavior of accountability. A leader's competent behavior and efficient communication will enhance trust and motivate the staff to meet the objectives of the organization (Northouse, 2018). Assumptions, values, beliefs, and life experiences are all part of what each employee and leader bring to an organization (Hatch, 2018). Storey (2016) posited that smaller organizations relied heavily on leadership for change, employee focus, and innovation and assessed that organizational size alters the effect leadership contributes to organizational change. McDermott et al. (2013) challenged contemporary thinking regarding management styles, specifically transformational visionary leadership. The value of any leadership style was dependent on the ability to maintain psychological contracts. Pfeffer (2013) addressed why theories of organizational behavior were likely to

be valid over time and across settings, even as many aspects of the work environment and the people in it have changed. Three distinct elements are important for employees to identify with, including belief in the goals and values of the company, dedication to meet the goals, and a desire to be a part of the organization (Keskes, 2014).

Transformational Leadership

Yang, Huang, and Hsu (2014) posited that transformational leaders focus on changing the ethical ethos of their society and promoting intellectual stimulation through inspirational methods. Transformational leadership includes four basic dimensions: intellectual stimulation, idealized influence, individualized consideration, and inspirational motivation (Moriano, Molero, Topa, & Mangin, 2014). Intellectual stimulation commences when leaders encourage an employee's creativity when they develop and nurture independent thinking (Moriano et al., 2014.). Demonstrating ethical behaviors and attitudes that cause followers to emulate the behavior occurs when transformational leaders use idealized influence (Mariano et al., 2014). LePine, Zhang, Crawford, and Rich (2016) described these traits as inspirational motivation that occurs when leadership articulates a vision which motivates the employee to accomplish the goals of the organization. LePine et al. also described a transformational leader as instilling confidence in an employee that creates respect and trust, which will increase the employee's productivity and dedication to work. Workers in a transformative environment are encouraged to seek innovative solutions, create opportunities for shared learning, and ask questions to collectively reach a common goal (Jha, 2014).

The study of various leadership styles is important in providing mentorship on leader values and subordinate perceptions (Gonos & Gallo, 2013). Bottomly, Burgess, and Fox (2014) proposed a framework identifying five behaviors for effective leaders: (a) visionary, (b) builder, (c) developer, (d) standard-bearer, and (e) integrator. Bottomly et al. (2014) posited that the most useful measurement of a leader was in the leader's success and organization sustainability. The ability to drive sustainability in an organization requires leadership to incorporate innovative thinking in their business model (McPhee, 2014). McPhee also believed that implementing a successful business model incorporates change management as it relates to employee motivation and CSR. Leaders promote the vision and goals of an organization which must establish the willingness and engagement of the employees (Gonos & Gallo, 2013).

Business leaders must have the skills to assess the changing business environment and reinventing the value chain may play a key role in the organization's sustainability, thereby driving performance (McPhee, 2014). Transformational leadership styles tended to yield positive benefits in the form of improved performance (Yang, Huang, & Hsu, 2014). Economic, social, political, and technological innovations are the forces which drive organizational changes that accomplished transformational leaders successfully implement (McPhee, 2014). Asset reconfiguration is dependent on a senior leadership's ability to persuade employees to assess different courses of action and willingly adopt different states of mind in response to changes (Winn, Hall, & Erskine, 2017).

Organizational Culture

Organizational culture relates to satisfaction, effectiveness, and overall success in an organization; therefore, having an undesired organizational culture may result in decreased employee satisfaction, effectiveness, and performance (Huang, Li, Meschke, & Guthrie, 2015). Communication, trust, vision, and culture are a few of the qualities a leader must embrace to align with the culture of the organization and the vision of the company (Chiloane-Tsoka, 2013). Schein (2010) defined culture as a shared group experience in which basic assumptions develop as members interact together to resolve a problem that resulted from external and internal factors, forming a basis as to how members may think or feel about those problems. Understanding culture can be on a continuum from observable to unobservable which Schein (2010) divided into three levels that relate to one another: artifacts, espoused beliefs and values, and basic underlying assumptions. Lester (2013) described artifact as group structures and processes that are visible such as language. Basic underlying assumptions form over time as things become commonplace among group members (Lester, 2013). Schein (2010) posited that the assumptions formed will suggest very little difference between members.

Senge (2014) defined an organization as a group of individuals who interact together with a common goal through their distributed tasks and are part of the larger social context. Employees within an organization not only interact within that organization's social context but also in the external social environment (Senge, 2014). Understanding the effects of employee retention to an organizational culture will assist leaders in creating and sustaining a positive organizational culture which will influence

positive social change. The underlying culture of the organization, sustainability, and the organization's financial performance are all key components to sustainability (Caganova, Cambal, Weidlochova, & Luptakova, 2015). An organization's mission and policies may forge a stronger culture of sustainability by making explicit the values and beliefs the organization holds itself out to be in the community and to its employees (Eccles, Ioannou, & Serafeim, 2014).

Although scholars have studied organizational culture, management struggles to comprehend fully the effects culture has on employee morale and productivity (Chiloane-Tsoka, 2013). Additionally, the effective leader can assess their leadership skills by the influence it has on the employee (Chiloane-Tsoka, 2013). Rather, a better measure of effective leadership is the success and sustainability of the organization (Bottomley et al., 2014). Shipp, Furst-Holloway, Harris, and Rosen (2014) studied boomerang employees as those employees who voluntarily leave the organization as not a permanent separation, but as employees who may return to the organization in the future. Employees who decide to return to their previous employer are comfortable with the knowledge of the culture of the organization and have a deeper loyalty and connection, limiting the desire to voluntarily leave the organization again (Shipp et al., 2014). Leaders must communicate the vision to subordinates and effectively change attitudes and behaviors (Yafang, 2011). Organizational culture and leadership play a definitive role in the success or failure of a company (Yafang, 2011). Gohen, Blake, and Goodman (2016) described organizational commitment as the employee's identification and involvement with the organization, its leaders, and collective vision. Kuo (2013) posited that organizational

commitment has certain characteristics (i.e., the behavior of staff and socio-cultural behaviors of the organization). Keskes (2014) found that organizational commitment includes a strong emotional component of values, principals, and goals for the employee. Consequently, Kuo (2013) posited that organizational commitment is highly influential in connecting the employee with the organization. Gohen et al. (2016) found that organizational commitment relates to employee job satisfaction and performance and negatively correlated to voluntary turnover. Bhalla, Sidhu, and Kaur (2017) found that a positive relationship between organizational commitment and retention practices might bind employees to the organization.

Succession Planning

Succession planning is a process business leader's use to cultivate future leaders for key positions within the organization (Gray, 2014). Gray (2014) indicated that the most popular purposes of succession planning are to increase employee engagement and foster employee retention to support career aspirations with employees who are top performers. Jain and Jain (2014) identified that some business challenges leadership face is due to their inability to select appropriate candidates and properly forecast attrition. The lack of focus on succession planning could have an adverse impact on an organization's talent pipeline for key leadership positions. The goal of succession planning is to have a transition of leadership and management power from the existing leader to the successor (Gray, 2014). An organization's internal leadership should focus on developing talent for future positions. Marbury and Mayer (2013) suggested that business leaders that do not incorporate succession planning strategies may experience an

increased cost of labor and decreased performance. Business leaders should continuously assess the business needs of the organization and mitigate the gaps in the talent pipeline. Succession management strategies are inevitable for the development of future leaders and successors (Gray, 2014).

Marbury and Mayer (2013) described the process of succession planning as an exchange period to transfer knowledge that assists in developing the skills and knowledge of the employee. Leadership is responsible for the management of their employees and assessing competencies and skills to achieve the organization's objectives (Marbury & Mayer, 2013). Leadership must also incorporate identifying those employees within the organization that will backfill key positions and prepare them for leadership roles. The lack of succession planning will affect the organization's profit and loss as well as the ability to sustain and capture the market segment (Mitroff, 2016). An organization with a smaller workforce has a 70% higher rate of failing versus an organization that prepares for and integrates succession planning in the business model (McKee & Froelich, 2016). Therefore, leadership may want to alter on-boarding, career planning, and leadership development to assist employees in building internal networks for future growth and succession in the organization.

Succession planning is a fundamental component of talent management across all industry sectors (Church, 2014; Claussen, Grohsjean, Luger, & Probst, 2014). Succession planning could influence business performance and employees' attitudes toward longevity with the organization due to future growth opportunities. The business practice of succession planning provides business leaders with the resources to establish and

prepare the prospective talent pool of employee's ready to fill vacant positions. A sense of urgency in identifying the next generation of leaders due to the significant shift in the United States demographic workforce as the baby boomer generation exit to retirement is known as the silver tsunami (Boveda & Metz, 2016). McCauley-Smith, Williams, Gillon, Braganza, and Ward (2013) suggested that leaders may need to replace traditional succession planning with robust leadership succession strategies and aggressively prepare employees for multiple job levels within the organization. The leadership development programs for succession planning are usually formal with leadership coaching and job assignments. Workforce trends are influencing the timeliness of succession planning for the development and training of the succession talent pool (McCaulley-Smith et al., 2016).

Business organizations do not commonly practice understanding the importance of succession planning (Hawkeye, 2017). Management may consider reviewing their internal succession planning and assess how their internal processes may affect the organization's growth opportunities. Jain and Jain (2014) argued that business leaders focus more on business strategies and less on succession planning. Simoneaux and Stroud (2014) indicated that succession management is a critical business task leadership must be fully engaged in advancing succession planning initiatives. Succession planning fosters collaboration and creates a working environment where employees can identify their leadership characteristics and be encouraged to develop as leaders (Parris & Peachey, 2013). Jain and Jain (2014) posited that this approach could reduce the costly sourcing of external candidates, strengthen the internal employee-employer relationships,

and ultimately balance the workplace culture. Moreover, this type of organizational change may impact employee morale, retention, and organizational stability (Jain & Jain, 2014). Trust in a team dynamic reinforces a competitive business advantage and indirectly incorporates succession planning when sharing information within the team dynamics (Xi, Kraus, Filser, & Kellermanns, 2015). Pritchard and Whiting (2014) suggested that the baby boomer retirees may cause a gap in leadership and this anomaly has influenced retention behaviors among generational cohorts. This behavior influences how leaders manage multigenerational work teams with varying worldviews and workplace values, which may ultimately impact how organizations deliver business results (Na Ayudhya, 2015). Stark (2015) argued that generational diversity effects some common business areas such as communication, cooperation, perception, and knowledge sharing. Further, employees with a clear reporting structure, roles, and responsibilities will bring about a stronger workforce, which correlates to consistent productivity (Zarei, Chaghouee, & Ghapanchi, 2014).

Employee Retention

Tiffan (2014) suggested that effective leaders could foster team trust to a level that will enable an organization to engage in unfiltered, passionate debate without conflict. Involving employees in the decision-making process and promoting values that align with the employees will bring about a greater commitment to the organization and create an environment with increased employee retention (Keskes, 2014). Working through organizational challenges, communicating, and recognizing and appreciating the different needs of each employee will bring forth a stronger commitment to the

organization (Keske, 2014). Zheng et al. (2015) posited that employee job satisfaction where morale is high and positive interactions exist with coworkers and the employee's family may increase employee retention.

Employee retention can be a challenging issue for most organizations. Leaders addressing retention of employees face challenges that require immediate attention (Northouse, 2018). Consequently, organizational culture and employee engagement are necessary to maintain a healthy working environment (Northouse, 2018). Contemporary leaders' ability to develop and execute strategies to retain employees and reduce employee turnover rates contributes to an organization's success (Dibrell et al., 2014). Perrot (2015) posited the importance of leadership to incorporate long-term sustainability initiatives in their organizations and employee retention and motivation are all critical areas of focus. Perrot believed pursuing sustainability principles involved collaborating with employees and stakeholders to discuss and implement innovative ideas thereby driving employee retention and trust. Maletic, Dahlgaad, Dahlgaad-Park, and Gomiscek (2015) argued that leaders who adopt sustainability concepts in their business models are more successful in creating a sustainable business organization.

Paillé (2013) conducted two surveys to examine the relationship between an employee's intention to search for other employment and perceived job alternatives and conducted their research around organization citizenship behavior (OCB). The definition of OCB involves an individual's behavior that is discretionary and does not directly relate to a formal reward system (Paille, 2013). Organization citizenship behavior studied the direct correlation between leaders who openly communicate with employees during a

reorganization or personal struggles will directly reflect the motivation of the employee to meet the expectations of the organization (Paille, 2013). Organization citizenship behavior can assist leaders in assessing the early withdrawal stages of an employee (Paille, 2013).

Lees (2013) posited that management must communicate to employees that their contribution is valued and guide them through a career path with the organization. Career mapping and organizational goals are conversations leaders should have with employees at various intervals in the employee's career (Lees, 2013). Choi-Sang and Perumal's (2014) study was to understand and overcome an employee's intention to leave or resign and address HRM's challenge of a shrinking entry-level employee pool. Choi-Sang and Perumal's (2014) research encompassed the psychological dimension, organizational significance, and economic dimensions as to why employees voluntarily leave. Gialuisi and Coetzer (2013) concluded various themes as to why the employee voluntarily left the organization and categorized themes for the following reasons: (a) the desire to leave a dysfunctional employee/employer relationship, (b) career opportunity or growth, and (c) work distribution and overload. The study also assessed that HRM could limit voluntary employee turnover by focusing on ensuring the new employee fit into the current working environment, provide opportunities for growth and progression and assure remuneration packages fit the employee's needs and desires (Gialuisi & Coetzer, 2013).

Zargar, Vandenberghe, Marchand, and Ayed (2014) examined the relationship between actual turnover and commitment. Moreover, job satisfaction and employee motivation were two key points in assessing the challenge employees with high growth

opportunities face in the workforce. Also outlined was the importance of HRM creating a learning environment for those employees who were not high growth employees. Zargar et al. (2014) concluded that high growth employees must stay engaged and feel challenged; whereas, the employee who is not a high growth employee will grow and stay with an organization that is willing to create a slower environment for learning. Kuo, Lin, and Li (2014) suggested that turnover is not necessarily detrimental to an organization. Zhao, Zhou, He, Cai, and Fu (2014) indicated there are some benefits to turnover that may be positive over the cost. Kuo et al. (2014) suggested that one of the benefits of turnover is the possibility of paying the replacement worker lower wages than the employee who left the organization. Leadership must embrace and appreciate that not all employees are high achievers, and the importance of *worker bees* is critical to all organizations (Zargar et al., 2014).

Zargar et al. (2014) study further offered guidance to enhance employee commitment and reduce voluntary turnover. Leaders that recognize employees with strong growth needs will reduce an employee's intent to quit when they believe an organization acknowledges their talent and growth potential (Zargar et al., 2014). It is equally important for leadership and HRM to provide coaching and training to those employees who display low growth, those that have needs that will encourage growth and self-development, as well as show genuine interest and foster a social exchange relationship and commitment to the organization (Zargar et al., 2014). Vardaman, Allen, Otondo, Hancock, Shore, and Rogers (2016) agreed that the retention of employees is

important to the organization as the loss of valuable skills, knowledge, and abilities can hinder the organization's sustainability and growth.

Voluntary Turnover

Naca, Rempel, Imada, Alexandre, and Janowitz (2016) discussed the drastic changes in the workplace brought forth by disruptive technology. Employees must develop different skillsets to sustain an organization's growth as well as the ability to compete in the marketplace (Naca et al., 2016). Ballinger, Cross, and Holtom (2016) asserted that employees with strong connections and relationships at work would stay due to the attachment to the organization. Consequently, investing in team building within a group dynamic will create a strong connection in which communication can flow with a greater potential benefit to the success of the team and the project. Kuo, Lin, and Li (2014) suggested that turnover may not always be detrimental to an organization's profitability, sustainability, and performance. Zhao et al. (2014) suggested that some benefits of turnover may provide greater opportunities for employees to bring new ideas and knowledge to the organization. Turnover among low performing professionals does not constitute voluntary turnover (van Duijn & Bonten, 2014). Employees may decide to voluntarily leave their employment with an organization due to personal or professional issues. However, the cost of employee turnover may play a role in the success and growth of the company. Turnover not only creates a loss of production, but turnover is expensive due to the cost to pay and replace the employee (Cosar, Kerem, & Tybout, 2016). Meyer-Rath et al. (2015) suggested that turnover and employee disengagement are costly to an organization and can negatively impact the effectiveness of the business. Departing

professionals take with them knowledge and experience when leaving the organization (Cosar at al., 2016). Leadership concerns themselves with the direct and indirect cost of internal processes and functions (Meyer-Rath et al., 2015). Direct costs may represent costs associated with the processes employees use within the organization to achieve a task and indirect costs are those costs consisting of employee replacement, turnover rates, and the reduction in productivity (Meyer-Rath et al., 2015). Leaders may need to understand and address employee turnover to assist them in improving employee retention. The relationship an employee has with the leadership and the organization may build job embeddedness that can also assist in the retention of employees. Ballinger, Cross, and Holtom (2016) asserted that the more connections an employee has with other individuals, the more likely they will decide to stay with an organization when challenges arise. Karatepe and Shahriari (2014) posited that perceived negative effects of unfair or unjust treatment of employees would cause disruption in the team dynamics and affect retention of the employee base. Finally, Allen, Pelkotorpi, and Rubenstein (2016) analyzed job embeddedness as the employee's internal mobility opportunities, job satisfaction, age, gender, and educational background.

In addition to the overall financial costs to the organization, turnover is disruptive to the company's operations. Four out of five business leaders rank employee retention as an urgent or important concern facing their organization (Cook, 2016). McAuliffe et al. (2013) noted that the cost of turnovers expands beyond the costs associated with hiring policies and procedures. The cost of replacing an employee is approximately one-fifth of the employee's salary (Christie, 2014). Organizations experiencing high employee

turnover may experience a negative impact on their profitability due to the cost of replacing the employee.

Strojilova and Rafferty (2013) posited that it is important for leadership to understand the motivation of its employees when they chose to leave their employment voluntarily. Leadership must focus on bridging the relationships within the organization through a variety of methods including job rotation to encourage diverse networks (Byerly, 2012). In doing so, this may improve the relationship and assist employees in investing time and effort with co-workers, thereby building a stronger foundation. Further, Strojilova and Rafferty (2013) posited that employees experiencing stronger social relationships at work will increase the employee's odds of staying with the organization long term. Byerly (2012) described employee voluntary turnover to include regrettable and non-regrettable turnover. Strojilova and Rafferty (2013) asserted that the decision to leave an organization is either functional or dysfunctional. Dysfunctional turnover is detrimental to an organization as it entails the loss of a key employee (Strojilova & Rafferty, 2013).

Dhar (2015) found that an employee who receives poor training and development is not only important to the sustainability and growth of the organization, but enhances the employees desire to stay. Training enhances the employees understanding of change in the workplace. Prediscan and Roiban (2014) suggested that change occurs if managers acknowledge the importance of the change forces. The success of the change process will depend on the employee support and understanding the importance and need for change (Prediscan & Roiban, 2014). The internal forces that drive change are employees and

managers as well as the strength of the organization's culture and structure (Predişcan & Roiban, 2014). Fink, Frank, Gundolf, and Kailer (2014) posited that some organizations lack the understanding and capacity necessary to reflect on their change experiences which, in turn, limits the opportunity to learn from the change. Finally, Prediscan and Roiban (2014) concluded that change management of an organization is for leadership to understand what drives change and then the skills to implement the change. Tschopp, Grote, and Gerber (2014) posited that self-determination, advancement, mobility, and security represented the basis of preferences toward a possible career path within an organization. Lees (2013) indicated that an employee's reputation is essential in the employee's development and career goals. Employees that do not feel they are a fit or valued will take those skills and talents to an organization that will fulfill their needs (Tschopp et al., 2014).

Lyness and Judiesch (2001) found that female voluntary turnover rates tend to be than their male counterparts. Demographics, gender, culture, and organizational embeddedness all play a role in voluntary turnover (Lyness & Judiesch, 2001). Ng and Feldman (2014) inferred that older employees may develop stronger links to co-workers, and leaving may only create difficult financial sacrifices. Older employees may feel that they have a higher risk aversion that may influence the desire to stay because of the pension and medical benefits, as opposed to younger employees who believe they will build new relationships in a new venture and are not concerned with benefits (Ng & Feldman, 2014). Peltokorpi et al. (2015) emphasized that management cannot assume older employees will not leave an organization due to job embeddedness. The age of the

employee withstanding, leaders must focus on the knowledge and significant role the employee has in the organization when considering the possibility of retaining the employee or succumb to voluntary turnover intentions (Ng & Feldman, 2014).

Work-related stress may also influence employee retention. For-profit employees have a long-term employee relationship with an organization and feel a connection to the company's mission and branding (Newton & Teo, 2014). If the organization is a non-profit, the employee may feel a moral connection and loyalty that creates the desire to stay (Newton & Teo, 2014). Graham, Murray, and Amuso (2002) examined the role that stock-related rewards and social identity theory (SIT) have in fulfilling employee expectations. Stock related rewards include the development of the employee's skills, additional training, and opportunity to advance within the organization. Newton and Teo (2014) identified SIT as a person not having only one personal self, but several connections to other groups or individuals. These variables and stressors are not limited to employer-employee relationships, but the boundaries fall within the social and family relationships as well. Newton and Teo (2014) identified three different types of higher order identifications including organization, humanistic identification, and corporation identification.

Communication regarding opportunities and expectations builds a psychological contract that in turn will promote employee retention (Graham et al., 2002).

Communication, professional, social, and personal levels of interaction can also foster loyalty, trust, and respect from the members of the organization and management.

Employees who feel relaxed, valued, and content at work will sense a connection to the

organization (Graham et al., 2002). Graham et al. (2002) posited that building a strong culture and fostering employee engagement in a wide variety of tasks might assist the organization in retention of its employees. Shuck, Twyford, Reio, and Shuck (2014) defined employee engagement as cognitive, emotional, and positive energy the employee projects towards employee engagement and the organization. Development opportunities in organizations are perceived equally across all levels and departments (Shuck et al., 2014). Shuck et al. (2014) identified this perception as having possible implications on the development of the employee, performance, and turnover intention.

McClean, Burris, and Detert (2013) focused their research on employees who may feel powerless when voicing concerns or push back but continue to stay with the organization with no desire to exit. Not all change is necessary, but employees must feel the leader has the skills and ability to listen and decipher whether change is necessary (McClean et al., 2013). Leadership that does not communicate with employees will ultimately cause voluntary employee turnover (McClean et al., 2013). A high level of voice from both management and employees indicate growth and expression, thereby bringing growth and creativity to the organization that allows sustained growth to stay competitive in the market (McClean et al., 2013). Once employees have expressed creativity or concerns, they must see action from leadership. Without this, there may be a reverse effect on the employees and cause employees to voluntarily leave the organization (McClean et al., 2013). Leaders must assist their constituencies to unlearn outmoded or habituated methods of construing opportunities or challenges and move

them toward innovation pushing against beliefs or culturally embedded assumptions (Nicolaides & McCallum, 2013).

Most employees want to have pride in the organization for which they work. If the organization becomes the focus of negative attention, it will affect employee voluntary turnover (Helm, 2013). Management must focus on external factors to align with pride and favorable reputation of the community. Helm (2013) focused this study on perceived external reputation (PER) and pride in management (PIM) to focus on how these two elements affect employee voluntary turnover. The workplace arena has identified two forms of pride. There is the personal pride you take in your work from which you derive your self-respect and value. Helm (2013) focused on the other element of pride, and that is collective pride. Collective pride is the connection associated with being an employee of an organization. Helm (2013) concluded that the employee's overall satisfaction with an organization directly relates to the perception of the company. Society and organizations, through the increased complexity and diversity of the organizations, provoke either a general sense of confusion and uncertainty or a situation whereby individuals are typically unable to tell whether something is this or that (Michela & Vena, 2012). Adaptation is the process of achieving a fit between an individual's behavior and the new demands produced by unique problems resulting from change (Tims, Derks, & Bakker, 2016). The fear of ambiguity comes from the perceived loss employees feel due to change (Nicolaides & Callum, 2013). Ambiguity and ambivalence may cause organizations to postpone or implement necessary changes for

organizational sustainability. Leading change requires leadership to know when and to what extent to be assertive (O'Kane & Cunningham, 2014).

Training and Development

Ryu and Lee (2013) stressed that the retention of mediocre employees is equally as devastating to an organization as employee voluntary turnover. Therefore, not all turnover costs are unnecessary (Ryu & Lee, 2013). Human resource management (HRM) is turning to coaching, not as a remedial practice, but rather as a part of the proactive leadership development tool necessary to drive a sustainable organization with growth and innovation (Bozer, Sarros, & Santora, 2014). Continuous training and developing of employees can play an important role in increasing organizational productivity, performance, and profitability (Zampetakis, 2014). Al-Emadi and Schwabenland (2015) suggested that HRM can influence whether the employee stays with an organization through training and development, performance appraisals, recognition, and promotion opportunities. Receiving feedback and understanding what motivates the employee will play a key role in retention (Strojilova & Rafferty, 2013). Memon et al. (2014) posited that employees develop a sense of obligation to the organization to stay longer when the organization promotes career opportunities through training and learning new competencies.

Rubeiro and Semedo (2014) discussed the importance of HRM's ability to reduce organizational turnover, attract high-level candidates, and develop and maintain strong, effective levels in the organization. Watty-Benjamin and Udechukwu (2014) examined HRM practices that highlight employee's intentions to leave a job. While the perception

of the trustworthiness and fairness drive employees' perceptions and behaviors, HRM best practices add exceptional value to human capital (Rubeiro & Semedo, 2014). Employees will derive perceptions as to whether HRM is trustworthy or effective by the actions they implement and the investment in the organization's employees (Rubeiro & Semedo, 2014). Shuck et al. (2014) focused on the perception employees have in the participation of human resource development (HRD) and the underrepresentation of turnover intent. Shuck et al. (2014) suggested the link between HRD practices and employee engagement to turnover intentions and concluded that engagement partially mediated the HRD practices and turnover intent. Research studies include effective hiring and selection of employees, a favorable working environment, management support, positive reinforcement to include training of employees, and benefits to meet the needs of a diverse employee base (Byerly, 2012). Trained employees are more satisfied with their career than those employees who receive little to no training (Tabvuma, Georgellis, & Lange, 2015). Byerly (2012) assessed the importance of focusing on not only recruiting and hiring, but also the importance of retaining valuable employees before they choose other employment. Byerly (2012) described the importance of leadership as assessing whether employee voluntary turnover and retention reflect the organizational culture of the company.

A skilled workforce and the retention of employees is a challenge facing leaders of organizations, irrespective of the industry (Byerly, 2012). Managing talent and understanding what motivates an employee will be an essential component in retaining a skilled workforce to meet the demands of the organization. Call et al. (2015) examined

the elements of turnover rates, which included the changing quality/quantity of human resources that depart, change and turnover dispersion, and replacement hires. The study encompassed the context-emergent turnover theory (CET), which conceptualizes human resources capital and defines collective turnover as the knowledge, skills, abilities, and other characteristics of employee turnover (Call et al., 2015). The authors incorporated static and dynamic rates of employee turnover and CET and concluded that both could affect your organization and employee performance. Static turnover rates and turnover rate changes are distinct and capture different employee turnover causes that may contribute to employee retention, employee voluntary turnover or dissatisfaction (Call et al., 2015).

Coetzee and Stoltz (2015) asserted that training and development are key practices for retaining staff. Coetzee and Stoltz (2015) posited that while it is important for leaders to be accountable to train and develop staff, the employee is accountable to control their development through discussions with direct reports. Choi-Sang and Perumal (2014) outlined considerations as to fair pay, treatment, and the ability to rotate into other positions as incentives HRM can use when addressing employee voluntary turnover. Discussion regarding fair treatment and pay would be an area of focus to change employee voluntary turnover (Choi-Sang & Perumal, 2014). Finally, fair remuneration practices are important to match the roles and responsibilities placed on the employee and performance (Coetzee & Stoltz, 2015).

Benefits and Compensation

Employees want the opportunity to grow in an organization. Valuing employee loyalty by opening opportunities for growth, as well as fair pay and treatment, is key (Choi-Sang & Perumal, 2014). Gialuisi and Coetzer (2013) agreed that pay and benefits are important, but unity and positive social connections and the feeling of a family unit may be equally vital as job satisfiers for employees. The root causes of employee voluntary turnover, according to He, Zhang, and Zhang (2014), include salary, benefits, training, job rotation, and career opportunities. Gialuisi and Coetzer (2013) focused their research on what factors influenced employee voluntary turnover and how managers can retain key employees. Research found that relationship conflict, career opportunities, and additional work responsibilities as the primary reasons for employee voluntary turnover (Gialuisi & Coetzer, 2013).

Frazis and Loewenstein (2013) argued the importance of incorporating fringe benefits in the retention of employees and reduce employee turnover. Meeting the needs of the employee, both monetarily and professionally, are strategies to enhance organizational performance by reducing employee voluntary turnover and retention of productive employees (Frazis & Loewenstein, 2013). Benefits and wages are two key components for retention of key employees (Ryu & Lee, 2013). Ryu and Lee (2013) suggested there are two areas of fringe benefits that bring about most of the attention: pensions and health care insurance. Frazis and Lowenstein (2013) discussed the need to assess the two fringe benefits and what impact it may have on your workforce.

Agyapong, Osei, Farren, and McAuliffe (2015) indicated that pay and reward, as well as

employee engagement, are all strategies that recognize the importance of work-life balance and promote retention among professionals in the workplace environment. Regardless of the business environment, retention strategies are critical for an organization in maintaining an advantage over its competition.

Transition

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to identify strategies business leaders use to retain employees in an academic nursing organization. Section 1 included the background, problem and purpose statements, nature of the study, research question, and interview questions. Section 1 also examined the conceptual framework, operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, delimitations, the significance of the study, implications for social change, and review of the literature. This study contains the methodology and design selected for the study. The section provides the purpose, role of the researcher, study participants, and ethical considerations. Section 2 also contains the research design, population and sampling methods, data collection instruments, data organization and analysis techniques, finishing with reliability and validity of the study. I provide the findings of the study and potential implications for social change. In Section 3, I will analyze data that was useful for ascertaining the findings of the study. This section will include an overview of the study, presentation of the findings, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and future studies, reflections, and conclusion of the study. Using the analyzed data, I will explain the outcomes of the study thoroughly.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I present information on the research method and design used to address the business problem guided by the research question: What strategies do business leaders use to retain employees in an academic nursing environment? I also discuss the role of the researcher, the participants, and the justification of the selected methodology and design. This section includes data related to population and sampling techniques, ethical concerns, data collection instruments, and strategies to assure the reliability and validity of this study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to identify strategies that business leaders use to retain employees in an academic nursing organization. The participants included four business leaders who successfully used employee retention strategies. The population included business leaders working in academic nursing environments in Texas, Kentucky, and Florida. The information from this case study may lead to social benefits, as the results may improve the quality of nursing students graduating and ultimately improve a patient's life through superior patient care. Retaining employees in an academic learning environment will assist students with familiarity and trust in the organization. If a student continues to see turnover, they will be less likely to constantly work with different employees, and it will lower their comfort and trust levels. A more experienced and qualified nurse workforce may provide optimal care to patients. Nurses who are more experienced may assess the care necessary to treat the patient and limit the

time and care the patient may otherwise need. Additional outcomes may include decreased healthcare costs and increased positive patient outcomes.

Role of the Researcher

In a qualitative study, the researcher assumes the role of the data collection instrument (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). My role as the researcher was to complete an interpretive case study to gain a better understanding of the strategies business leaders use to retain employees. The role of the researcher included defining the research concept and designing, interviewing, transcribing, analyzing, authenticating, and recording the study's data to develop themes (Sanjari, Bahramnezhad, Fomani, Sho-ghi, & Cheraghi, 2014). Additionally, the role of the researcher in a qualitative multiple case study is to investigate, collect the data, and prepare the data for analysis. In qualitative studies, the researcher uses varying data collection techniques to evaluate organizational procedures (Abildgaard, Saksvic, & Nielsen, 2016).

I secured institutional review and permission to complete the research and obtained the requisite documentation from the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB). I verified that I am a current student who is conducting this study in partial fulfillment of the requirements to complete the Doctor of Business Administration course. I bring over 25 years of executive and management experience at all levels of leadership within an organization. My research interest in this study directly related to my experience in a senior leadership capacity in which I was responsible for employee retention. In the execution of my routine duties, I coached, hired, trained, and focused on bridging relationships across academic and operational areas. I followed strict guidelines

and adhered to a well-planned interview protocol with data collection guidelines and techniques.

The interview protocol consisted of the established topic for the study, opening statements and instructions to the interviewer, the key research questions, probes to follow key questions, and transition messages for the interviewer. The researcher should not interview participants with whom they have had a role in providing direct or indirect services (Yin, 2014). Because I conducted the interview in the environment of the participants, I insured my openness to contrary evidence and diminished any bias.

Hernandez-Hernandez and Sancho-Gil (2015) posited that qualitative researchers and the role they play in the research process are interconnected in a meaningful way. It is important that the researcher, during the research process, create an atmosphere of trust that allows participants to provide their individual descriptions of organizational experiences (Henriques, 2014). As the researcher, I adhered to ethical, principled guidelines for the protection of humans as outlined in the *Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). I followed the guidelines of the *Belmont Report*, which are respecting confidentiality and opinions of the participants and accurately reporting the information they provided. Finally, the *Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979) also provided comprehension and safety guidelines for research conducted on individuals without their consent or understanding. Novak (2014) discussed the role that researchers should follow when conducting scholarly work with the level of ethical requirements outlined in the

Belmont Report (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979) to protect human subjects who are participating in their study. A primary role of the researcher is to gather information about institutional conditions under which real people coexist and share their experiences in social and professional contexts (Hernandez-Hernandez & Sancho-Gil, 2015). Further, scholars have the responsibility to avoid exploiting all participants and ensure participants confirm that they have received, understood, and signed an informed consent document (Nicolaides & McCallum, 2013).

To mitigate researcher bias, I observed the outline of the interview protocol (Appendix A) for all participants. I did not seek alternate interpretation for information collected from participants during the interview process. Onwuegbuzie and Byers (2014) indicated that scholars should ensure the data is accurate, transparent, and not fabricated to influence an aspect of their study. I adhered to member checking principles for verification purposes. Excluding business leaders with a perceived or acknowledged relationship mitigates any undue influence. Cho and Lee (2014) believed that scholars who authenticate the information in their study can increase the credibility, dependability, and transferability of their findings and eliminate the possibility of misrepresenting data.

As part of the bracketing process, I asked each participant the same open-ended questions in the same order. In a qualitative case study, the scholar creates institutional relationships to explore all contextual elements to the phenomenon under review with careful consideration that is focused on how to eliminate bias and establish validity (Hyett, Kenny, & Dickson-Swift, 2014). As a business leader, I understand the

fundamental role that employee retention can have on the sustainability, costs, and growth of an organization. Percy, Kostere, and Kostere (2015) found that a scholar uses their preknowledge and preunderstandings of the phenomenon in conjunction with participants' perspectives to format their own analyses. Schneider (2015) discussed the importance of researchers reflecting on their personal thought processes during research and understanding that the procedures they use may ultimately influence participants in their study. On-going negotiation and recruitment skills by the researcher can be effective in managing a participant's reactions and responses during the data collection process (Chiumento, Rahman, Frith, Snider, & Tol, 2017). Further, Chiumento et al. (2017) identified the persuasiveness of the research content, demographics, and general deportment as factors that potential participants may review prior to allowing the researcher access to the participants' knowledge and data.

As the researcher, I used different negotiation skills to recruit participants based on my knowledge of their professional experiences and achievements. Sanjari et al. (2014) stated that in a qualitative study, the scholar is involved in all aspects of the study. In this regard, and prior to the research commencing, scholars should establish clear protocols to maintain the integrity of the objectives and findings of their study. I addressed and mitigated my personal lens and disclosed my previous position as a business leader. I have previously managed personnel as a business leader, and I was open-minded and mitigated my biases. I alleviated these biases, in part, by ensuring that I had no close personal relationships or authority over any of the participants in this study, their employment, or employment status. Corti and Van den Eynden (2015) stated that

researchers must execute a responsible approach to produce the highest quality investigative data. Upon the completion of the study, scholars may seek to invite leaders to discuss the findings and recommendations to lead change processes and outcomes, and to promote strategic objectives (Zhang, Levenson, & Crossley, 2015).

Participants

The participants included business leaders in an academic nursing environment who had successfully implemented employee retention strategies. The population included four business leaders in Texas, Kentucky, and Florida. Yin (2014) suggested that thoroughness, as used in the criterion of research validity, refers to the adequacy of the data and is dependent on sound sampling and data saturation. Feerasta (2016) found participants who have recent business management experience about a researcher's study topic are desirable candidates for the researcher to interview. These managers had a minimum of 5 years' experience in a leadership role that included a focus on employee retention. Becton et al. (2017) found participants who have several years' experience and have implemented successful employee retention strategies are appropriate for a researcher's study on this topic. Feldman and Kricheli-Katz (2015) explained that participants must possess significant expertise in their field. The participants for this study had sufficient experience and knowledge to respond to this study's research question, which was: What strategies do business leaders use to retain employees in an academic nursing environment?

My first strategy for gaining access to the participants for this study was to contact each department director and discuss the nature of this study. Establishing a

working relationship can assist the researcher in engaging the participants and improve the quality of the data collection (Jack, DiCenso, & Lohfeld, 2016; Kivlighan, Hill, Gelso, & Baumann, 2016; Wilson, Dashielle-Aje, Anatchkova, Haraeendran, Leidy, & Wyrwich, 2017). I fostered the working relationship with the participants by introducing myself and gave each participant a summary of the goal of the study. Gaining access to potential participants includes conducting a purposeful sampling of business leaders (Kastner, Antony, Soobiah, Straus, & Tricco, 2016). I established a rapport by contacting the potential participants via telephone and transmitted e-mails confirming our conversation. I continued the dialogue regarding the nature of this study and the protocol that would be incorporated as we moved forward.

Carden and Boyd (2014) explained that developing a rapport with participants is essential for a meaningful exploration of the phenomenon. When I received the e-mail confirmation, I discussed the nature of the study, protocols, and the data collection methods I would follow during the course of this study with the participant. My strategies for building a professional working relationship with participants was to contact the participants on the phone and request a face-to-face meeting. Carden and Boyd (2014) suggested that personal contact, such as a phone conversation can help establish a working relationship with participants and develop their interest in participating in a study.

If the participant was interested in participating in the study, we scheduled a mutually agreed upon date, time, and place that was convenient to the participant for an interview. I outlined the purpose of the study to the participant during my initial

telephone conversation and followed-up with an email reconfirming our conversation. I strived to continue developing a working relationship with the participants by explaining the purpose of the study, the research procedures, and answered any questions they had. Parker (2014) found developing a rapport with participants is an essential component to obtain sufficient data for a researcher's study. The participants for this study had sufficient experience and knowledge to respond to this study's research question, which is: "What strategies do business leaders use to retain employees in an academic nursing environment?" White and Hind (2015) shared the view of the importance for all parties to have a mutual understanding to generate a productive qualitative study. When closing out the interview, I once again reiterated to the participants that the information will always remain confidential.

Research Method and Design

I used a qualitative case study involving four business leaders and explored what strategies they used to retain employees successfully. Lindlof and Taylor (2017) discussed the importance of the qualitative paradigm as an appropriate research method to gain an understanding of this complex phenomena. The research design and method are the blueprints that connect the elements of research into the process of exploring questions and drawing conclusions from a study (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). The research design will serve as a logical plan in the process of collecting and analyzing data relevant to the research question by strengthening the study's accuracy and validity.

Research Method

A researcher will use the qualitative research method to arrive at an understanding of an occurrence from the perspective of those experiencing the occurrence (Corbin et al., 2014). Alvesson and Sköldberg (2016) suggested that the use of a qualitative approach has been useful in uncovering new phenomena, creating, testing new hypotheses, and generating new research methodologies for managing change. A qualitative approach was appropriate for this study since the feedback from the four business leaders outlining their employee retention strategies was the basis for data collection. Lindlof and Taylor (2017) posited that quantitative methodology is useful in providing a snapshot of a group or institution; however, it does not offer an in-depth understanding of the feelings and opinions of a group or their intentions. The quantitative method was not appropriate for this study as these measurements would not describe the human experience of my participants. McKim (2015) and Morse (2016) argued that there is substantial rationale in performing a mixed methods study because the use of multiple methods can make the research more comprehensive than a single method. Since I did not intend to perform statistical or computational analyses, the mixed method approach was not used in this study.

Research Design

Pavlovich, Sinah, and Rodrigues (2016) posited that there are five designs in qualitative research which are case study, phenomenological, ethnography, grounded theory, and narrative research. I used the case study design to explore business managers' strategies for retaining employees. Raeburn, Schmied, Hungerford, and Cleary (2015)

posited that researchers conducting case studies will strive to represent multiple realities described by the participants and interpret the data collected from observations and interviews to construct descriptions of the phenomena. In this study, a case study was appropriate because I explored and interpreted data on retention strategies by gathering information from four participants. Creswell and Creswell (2017) posited that using the phenomenological research design assists the researcher to ask a group of people about their perceptions, opinions, and beliefs about a particular phenomenon. I did not ask a group of people about their perceptions or beliefs about a particular phenomenon; therefore, the phenomenological design was not appropriate for this study. Kastner et al. (2016) described the use of ethnographic researcher study as assessing cultural groups in their natural environment over a prolonged period (Kastner et al., 2016). I did not study cultural groups; therefore, the ethnographic design was not suitable for this study. Bennett, Hill, and Daddario (2015) concluded that a narrative research design consists of written or spoken words of visual representation of individuals. This study relied on faceto-face interviews rather than a visual representation of individuals; therefore, a narrative research design was not appropriate. Grounded theory research is discovering emerging patterns in data (Yin, 2014). The focus of my study was not discovering emerging patterns; therefore, the grounded theory was not appropriate for this study. After each interview, I recorded the data and compared it to previous data collected, which guided data saturation by determining when participants ceased providing new information. Data saturation occurs when the researcher determines that the participants are not providing

new or different information; therefore, the data collection process is no longer necessary (Viet-Thi, Raphael, Bruno, & Ravaud, 2017).

Population and Sampling

Elo et al. (2014) referred to sampling types to include convenience, purposive, theoretical, selective, and snowballing. I solicited and secured interviewees via purposeful sampling from four diverse participants knowledgeable about employee retention. Purposeful sampling involves selecting individuals that are knowledgeable or experienced with a phenomenon of interest, as well as insure the participants' willingness to participate (Benoot, Hannes, & Bilsen, 2016; Marshall & Rossman, 2014; Palinkas et al., 2015). Purposive sampling is suitable for qualitative studies when a participant's knowledge is important in gaining an in-depth understanding of the question under study (Elo et al., 2014).

I identified participants using purposive sampling. Baur et al. (2015) described purposive sampling as a nonprobability sampling technique that is most effective when the researcher is seeking to understand the participant's perspective. Purposeful sampling allows researchers to sample a group of people who have the best information about the problem under investigation (Palinkas et al., 2015). Marais and Van Wyk (2014) posited that purposeful sampling allows a researcher to maximize the data collected for analysis. Barratt, Ferris, and Lenton (2015) suggested that purposeful sampling is the most appropriate sampling method when selecting participants that have knowledge and experience with the topic under study.

A specific set of criteria for this study was used to ensure participants have the knowledge to give meaningful data. The population for the study was limited to business leaders in an academic nursing environment who directly affect the retention of employees. The study included four business leaders in an academic nursing environment in three different states, Texas, Kentucky, and Florida. Mason (2017) indicated that the sampling should reflect a logical process of choosing an appropriate sample size in response to the research question

Wei, Dengsheng, Yanlan, and Jixian (2015) indicated that an appropriate sample size is one that will adequately address the research question, but that the information will not be so large that the data will not allow an in-depth analysis. Estimating the number of participants to achieve saturation depends on factors, such as the background of the problem, research method, the design, nature of the study, the study's conceptual framework, and the participants' eligibility criteria (Hennick, Kaiser, & Marconi, 2017). Elo et al. (2014) supported the notion that there is no commonly acceptable size for qualitative studies, but the sample depends on the quality of data, goals of the study, and the research question.

Elo et al. (2014) postulated that data saturation could indicate the optimal sample size. Elo et al. emphasized that data saturation ensured replication of themes, which helps form a comprehensive and complete study. If data saturation were incomplete, it could cause problems in data analysis (Elo et al., 2014). Data saturation determines the purposeful sample size. Shahgholian and Yousefi (2015) suggested the number of participants required to achieve saturation in a qualitative study could range from five to

fifty. A researcher attains data saturation when no new information surfaces, no new themes emerge, and there is enough information to replicate the study (Wei et al., 2015). As I interviewed participants, I assessed when no new themes emerged, and data saturation had been met. I compared the information to previous data collected, which guided the data saturation by determining when participants ceased to provide new information to the research question of this study. I designed interview questions and interviewed the participants until no new data emerges. Praus and Mujtaba (2015) found data saturation occurs when there are no new data, themes and coding, and the ability to replicate the study is possible.

I interviewed participants who had experience, knowledge, were available, and were well versed in organizational policies and retention planning efforts. This study took place in a location chosen by the participant. Purposeful sampling comprises specific selection criteria that will target participants with specialized and specific professional and intellectual characteristics (Apostolopoulos & Liargovas, 2016). Under purposeful sampling techniques, the participants selected should have the inherent ability to disclose their professional and individual work experiences by using articulate, expressive, and reflective communication skills (Alonso, Moscoso, & Salgado, 2017). Successful implementation strategies used by business leaders was the criteria in the selection of the participants for this study.

Ethical Research

Researchers have a moral obligation to be honest, accurate, and complete in the presentation of their findings, as well as transparency to articulate how they analyzed and

modified their data to establish their disclosures and conclusions (Jordan, 2014).

Disruptive technology and the ever-changing business environment present new challenges for scholars on how to manage ethical issues in their research activities (Yallop & Mowatt, 2016). Wallace and Sheldon (2015) believed the ethical approval processes in business research must involve the integrity of both the administrative and academic gatekeeping and minimize negative repercussions of participants or researchers' self-interest.

Scholars are responsible for disclosing and exercising their ethical intent, judgment, behavior, and awareness during the research process (Hersch & Shinall, 2015). Prior to commencing the data collection process, I obtained permission from the Walden University IRB. I gathered information from four business leaders about the strategies they used to retain employees. I commenced recruiting participants and advised them of their rights and obligations as outlined in the informed consent document. I contacted the participants by phone and reiterated that their participation was voluntary and they could withdraw at any time by contacting me by phone or email. I followed up and confirmed the conversation via email regarding the opportunity to withdraw from this study. I asked the participants to sign a consent form that they agreed to voluntarily be interviewed. Karatuna (2015) suggested using informed consent forms as an additional procedure in verifying the willingness of the participants to provide an interview. Lynn and Brewster (2015) cited that the interview process is for participants willfully disclosing information about a researcher's phenomenon. Upon the execution of the consent form and under the protocols of the Belmont Report, I ensured that all participants had a full understanding

of their part in this study. I outlined in the Consent Form that no monetary compensation would be given to any participant for their participation in this study. Kloek, Peter, and Wagner (2015) explained that the researcher has the responsibility to assure participants understand the consent form and that no any monetary compensation and incentives will be given for their participation.

I provided ethical protection for the participants in this study under the 1979
Belmont Report. The Belmont Report protects participants under three principles:
beneficence, justice, and respect. The Multicase Study Protocol (Appendix A) and the
Confidentiality Agreement (Appendix B) documents are attached and outlined in the
table of contents. The final doctoral manuscript includes the Walden IRB Approval
Number 02-06-19-0552731. Laperrière, Messing, and Bourbonnais (2016) discussed the
ethical obligations regarding securing and protecting data for five years, the timeline to
destroy data, and maintaining the confidentiality of the participants. The names of the
participants and companies were assigned pseudonyms to ensure participant
confidentiality (Appendix B). The participants' data will remain on a password-protected
flash drive locked in a safe in my home office for 5 years. After the 5-year period, I will
destroy all raw data, delete the files from the flash drive, and shred all paperwork, to
protect the confidentiality of the participants and the organization.

Data Collection Instruments

I was the principal data collection instrument for this case study. The primary data collection instrument was semistructured face-to-face interviews. The secondary collection instrument was business documents outlining human resource policies and best

practices for the retention of employees. Appendix A through C as outlined in the Table of Contents will have the data collection instruments, which included interview protocol, interview questions, direct observation protocols, and recoding mechanisms.

I conducted semistructured face-to-face interviews, which included six openended questions that collected information on participants' strategies used to retain employees. Doring and Wansink (2015) found that a face-to-face interview is the primary data collection method qualitative researchers use to accumulate information about the phenomenon under study. I used semistructured face-to-face interview questions (Appendix C) to manage the discussions and listened to the human-side of professional experiences. Semistructured interviews have a distinct structure that allows the participants to impart information relative to the research subject in which the participant has years of experience (Finkelstein, King, & Voyles, 2014). In a semistructured interview, the interviewer can develop a purposeful venue to manage the discussion and retrieve the interviewee's experiences, which secures rich data on the participant's opinions, and professional employment practices (Pauly & Buzzanell, 2016).

I remained impartial during the interview process as I reviewed the recordings to assess any themes. Durrani and Rajagopal (2016a) found that scholars occasionally fail to separate themselves from the research during the interview process and collection of the data. Completing the data collection process necessitates the qualitative scholar to engage participants in spoken and non-spoken interactions and collect documents that will support the participants' responses to interview questions (Butt, Dahling & Hansel, 2016). Alonso et al. (2017) found distinctive interpersonal skills and self-awareness are

characteristics that perceptive scholars display to obtain an in-depth understanding of their participants and manage their emotions.

During the interviews, I observed and followed the outline of the interview protocol (Appendix A). I documented personal notes and recorded participants' responses to interview questions by using the recoding mechanisms of the SONY ICD PX333 digital audio recorder. Katsos and Fort (2016) posited that an interviewer maintains control of the session and refrains from using personal or professional experiences to influence specific answers. Laperrière et al. (2016) emphasized the primary objective of the qualitative researcher is capturing new concepts about the phenomenon under study as they relate human experiences in the interviewee's organization. To achieve the researcher's objective, scholars observe the paradigm of their interview protocol that provides relevant subjects to cover during the interview in a systematic format (Parker, 2014).

I used member checking processes to encapsulate the information and allow the participants to verify the accuracy of the collected data. Collins (2016) cited that member checking provides the interviewees the opportunity to acknowledge and verify the data collected, and then confirm whether it reflects their lived experiences. For scholars to endorse the credibility, reliability, accuracy, and validity of the data reviewed, they use member checking as a quality control process in any phase of the interview procedures (Griffin, Piers, & Hesketh, 2016). Cerne, Nerstad, Dysvik, and Škerlavaj (2014) found proponents of member checking are confident that the process verifies that the participants' descriptions are reliable and valid.

Data Collection Technique

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies business leaders use to retain employees. I scheduled interviews on a day and time convenient to each participant. I used the interview protocol for conducting semistructured face-to-face interviews with pre-established questions (Appendix C) at a mutually agreed upon location. The interview questions aligned with this study's research question: What strategies do business leaders use to retain employees in an academic nursing environment? I observed the participants and listened to their experiences on retaining employees A semistructured interview protocol is useful for discovering factual data about the subject matter that provides an understanding of the examiner's research questions while applying probing questions that stem from a prepared interview (Cerne et al., 2014). Face-to-face interviews are also advantageous because they will give insight and perception of the study. Guchait, Ruetzlerb, Taylor, and Toldi (2014) found face-toface interviews enhance the researcher's comprehension of his study. I gained permission from the participants to audio-record the interviews using a SONY ICD PX333 digital audio tape recorder. I anticipated the duration of the interviews would be 45-60 minutes, which was sufficient time for obtaining the participants' experiences. Upon the completion of the interview, I asked the interviewee for pertinent company documents that will support this study's research question. Documentation consisted of internal processes regarding onboarding of the prospective applicant. Interview questions for a specific applicant and organizational hierarchy required prior to extending an offer were

also reviewed. Feerasta (2016) found gathering documents would support and help verify the participants' testimonies.

Member checking is useful for furthering the credibility, transferability, accuracy, and completeness of the recorded data during the interview process (Pauly & Buzzanell, 2016). Member checking improved the accuracy, credibility, and validity of this study. I summarized the information and allowed the participants to verify the accuracy of the data captured in my notes. Using the member checking process, I focused on reviewing the integrity and credibility of information, which relied on the participants' confirming the accuracy of the data. Becton et al. (2017) suggested member checking enhances the credibility of a study. The member checking process facilitates the researcher with verifying the participants' data without including the researcher's personal biases (Cerne et al., 2014). Yin (2014) posited that the disadvantages of observations include the participants modifying their actions because they are being observed; additionally, observations can also be time-consuming (Yin, 2014). Despite any potential disadvantages, I included formal and informal methods for observation activities.

Data Organization Technique

I identified and classified developing patterns and trends and analyzed contradictory participant interpretations and evaluations. Data organization technique is a process that identifies and catalogs trends, patterns, conflicts in participants' interpretations, and alternative perspectives (Becton et al., 2017). Researcher's initial data analyses may result in an overwhelming number of emerging codes, but the analysis will strengthen throughout the process as multiple concepts emerge (Becton et al., 2017).

Further, Durrani and Rajagopal (2016a) posited that codes would develop as researchers analyze the data for themes. I organized and compiled this study's data by using ATLAS.ti data analysis for coding, theme and data interpretation. ATLAS.ti data analysis is a computer-assisted qualitative data analysis that facilitates the coding procedure to be meaningful and assists the researchers to focus on specific codes and themes (Campbell, Boese, & Tham, 2016).

I ensured the safety, security, confidentiality, and accessibility of data as the primary objective in the storage of the data. Campbell et al. (2016) posited that for scholars accurate and efficient storage of digital and non-digital information is essential to represent the data and participants' user profiles, to enhance the retrieval process, and to add new information. I used passwords to secure the data stored on electronic devices and assign a pseudonym to each participant to protect their identities. Griffin et al. (2016) suggested that using data archiving as a procedure may ensure the availability of data and resources for review by future scholars. All paper and electronic copies used in this study will remain in a secured fireproof safe in my home for no less than five years per IRB requirements. Upon the completion of the 5-year time period, all raw data and documents will be shredded or deleted.

Data Analysis

When I analyzed the collected data, I ensured the data provided the framework for this study, which is identifying, classifying, examining, and analyzing strategies that business leaders use to retain employees. Cerne et al. (2014) posited that data analysis is a technique that researchers use when they assess information, which will discover

themes and patterns that directly relate to the study's primary research question. I analyzed the data and used methodological triangulation to assist me in maintaining consistency. Campbell et al. (2016), Miller (2017), and Thaler (2017) posited that methodological triangulation is a technique researcher's use to analyze similar data discovered in various data collection sources. Harvey (2015) posited the belief that member checking is a quality control process that allows the participant to review the interview summation to ensure the accuracy, validity, and credibility of the study. I validated the accuracy of the themes by involving each participant in the process. Cope (2014) suggested that scholars should ensure the credibility and dependability of the data collected by allowing the participants to confirm the themes, validity codes, and the findings of the study through member checking. Harvey (2015) agreed that the use of member checking to validate the accuracy of participant interview responses and study findings can ensure credibility and dependability.

During the data assessment process, I organized the data and identified themes. I used a Microsoft Excel software program that assisted me in organizing the data collected. The use of software programs decreased the potential for bias that may arise from the researcher's professional background and personal experiences (Sipe, Larson, McKay, & Moss, 2016). Collins (2016) posited using Microsoft Excel for coding themes helps prevent a researcher's bias. Finally, coding is a useful strategy when identifying and categorizing the most important data in the researcher's documented answers from the interview questions (Delcourt, Gremier, van Riel, & van Birgelen, 2015).

I input the unstructured information in the ATLAS.ti computer software programs and use its functions and features, which enhanced the data analysis process. Delcourt et al. (2015) posited scholars use qualitative data analysis software (QDAS), such as ATLAS.tiTM that support the coding and analysis of significant amounts of unsorted audio, text and image data. Scholars use the mechanisms of the ATLAS.ti software package to code audio and video data and connect transcripts of field notes for ease of interpretation (Harvey, 2015). Paylovich et al. (2016) posited that the ATLAS.ti software contains a self-organizing component that scholars can program to produce tables and identify themes, patterns, and concepts to form one unit of analysis. Brady (2016) found that users of the ATLAS.ti software could manipulate standard features to display comparisons among patterns and themes, to form additional analytical conclusions. I used ATLAS.ti computer software to support the data analysis process. Computer-assisted tools are relevant to my study to aid in efficiently managing codes and categorizing data. St. Pierre and Jackson (2014) agreed that the use of ATLAS.ti computer software is suitable for coding and categorizing data. According to Percy et al. (2015), thematic analysis is the process used to conduct data analysis of qualitative data. Finally, Starr (2014) posited that open coding incorporates reading through data, sometimes, creating data and recording samples of participant's words. Scholars use qualitative data analysis software (QDAS) like NVivo, MAXDAQ, or ATLAS.ti to support the coding and analysis of enormous amounts of unsorted audio, image data, text, and video (Starr, 2014).

Prior to writing a conclusion and establishing the findings of this study, I assessed alternative theories from the documents and interviews collected during the interview process. I compared data from the member checking follow-up interviews, observations, and documents to confirm the credibility of the collected data. Griffin et al. (2016) posited that comparing data and assessing alternate theories from interview questions will assist the researcher's theme and conclusion. Feerasta (2016) found member checking is an essential analytical process in supporting the researcher's analysis of the data collected. Cerne et al. (2014) posited that comparing data retrieved from participants helps confirm the study's credibility.

Reliability and Validity

Demonstrating reliability and validity confirms that a study has suitable rigor (Morse, 2015). A qualitative researcher uses various strategies to achieve reliability and validity (Acaster et al., 2015). Research has identified a range of relevant data quality dimensions, including accuracy, objectivity, believability, reputation, interpretability, and ease of understanding, concise and consistent representation, and relevancy (Baškarada, 2014).

Reliability

I used member checking and transcript review to check for dependability and ensure that I captured the meaning of what the participants stated. Member checking allowed me to ensure the transcript was a representation of the participants expressed experiences and perceptions. Cleary, Horsfall, and Hayter (2014) suggested that researchers often use member checking to enhance the validity and reliability of a study.

Member checking and transcript review are the most valuable methods to confirm the dependability of this study (Munn, Porritt, Lockwood, Aromataris, & Pearson, 2014). Hazavehei, Moonaghi, Moeini, Moghimbeigi, and Emadzadeh (2015) suggested that member checking consists of conducting initial interviews, interpreting what the participants shared, and sharing the interpretation with the participant for validation. I reviewed and interpreted the transcript, synthesized each question, and provided a copy of the transcript to each participant to ensure it represents their response, and there was no new data to collect. Yin (2014) posited that reliability referred to the consistency and transferability of the research procedures used in a case study.

Cypress (2017) suggested a thorough description of the entire research process that incorporates inter-subjectivity will produce quality in a qualitative research study. I confirmed the reliability of my study by applying consistency and care in the application of research practices. Assessing the reliability and integrity of research findings is the basis for validating the credibility of a study's research design and methodology (Noble & Smith, 2015). A researcher must have a certain familiarity with the participating institution and demonstrate a comfortable approach in the recruitment of the participants so that the sampling process is random and unbiased (Bernard, Wutich, & Ryan (2016). Finally, it is important that the participants' input is honest, and an accurate presentation is documented (Bernard et al., 2016).

Validity

I assured this study had validity by conducting member checking, reaching data saturation, and assuring the findings are credible, transferable, and confirmable. I

incorporated a chain of evidence, transparency, and maintain impartiality. Durani and Rajagopal (2016b) posited that in a qualitative study, validity represents the credibility, transferability, and confirmability of the researcher's conclusions and findings. Harvey (2015) suggested that using multiple sources of evidence and maintaining a chain of evidence will help support the validity of the researcher's study (Harvey, 2015). Finally, scholars can strengthen the validity of their study by maintaining transparency and objectivity in their sample size and strategy (Luchenitser, 2016). To improve validity of my case study, I used multiple sources of evidence, had key informants review and maintain a chain of evidence. To enhance the dependability of my case study, I followed Stake's (1995) four triangulations strategies: data source, investigator, theory, and methodology. Research validity and reliability are common concepts in quantitative research but also applicable in qualitative research since both researchers must establish credibility using either method (Olsen, McAllister, Grinnell, Walters, & Appunn, 2016). To maintain credibility, or authenticity, White, Oelke, and Friesen (2012) recognized that researchers must adhere to methods accepted as scientifically sound in the qualitative and informational sciences. The use of methodological and data source triangulation increased the internal validity and creditability of my case study.

The credibility of a research study refers to the trustworthiness of the data and quality of the combined processes of data collection and data analysis (Priyanko, Ruetzlerb, Taylor, & Toldi, 2014). I enhanced the credibility of the research findings and conclusions of this study by employing methodological triangulation as well as incorporating a reflexivity process. I incorporated the reflexivity process by removing

bias I may bring to the findings of this study. Folta, Glenn, and Kynskey (2017) found a reflexivity process enhances the trustworthiness and credibility of qualitative studies. Pauly and Buzzanell (2016) posited that credibility helps support the trustworthiness of data when there is triangulation, peer debriefing, persistent observations, reflexivity, and prolonged engagements.

I ensured data saturation when I conducted the interviews and reviewed audio recordings and direct observations. I asked the interviewee for pertinent company documents that will support this study's research question. Documentation consisted of internal processes regarding onboarding of the prospective applicant. Interview questions for a specific applicant and organizational hierarchy required prior to extending an offer were also reviewed. Data saturation occurred when new data did not surface. Data saturation will also be secured when the researcher_conducts interviews that do not include new themes, new data, new coding and by having the ability to replicate the study (Folta et al., 2017).

Transition and Summary

Section 2 is the project, where I described the research process. I collected data using semistructured interviews and secure pertinent documents that support this study's research question. Semistructured interviews consisted of six open-ended questions focusing on employee retention strategies that result in improving the organizations' retention of employees. I asked for company documents that provided additional relevant data, such as policies and procedures business leaders use to retain employees. I ensured credibility, dependability, transferability, and conformability processes through

methodological triangulation, semistructured interviews, document analysis, follow-up member checking interviews, acknowledging bias, and continuous contributions and feedback from participants.

In Section 3, I will analyze data that was useful for ascertaining the findings of the study. This section will include an overview of the study, presentation of the findings, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and future studies, reflections, and conclusion of the study. Using the analyzed data, I will explain the outcomes of the study thoroughly.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the strategies business leaders use to retain employees in an academic nursing environment. Section 3 consists of an introduction of the study and the presentation of the findings. Section 3 also encompasses the application to professional practice and the implications for social change. In addition, I discuss recommendations for actions for business leaders as well as further research on employee retention. In the reflections, I discuss my experience during the doctoral study journey. I conclude with an overview addressing the importance of implementing effective strategies for the retention of employees.

Presentation of the Findings

During my data collection process, I conducted my research with four business leaders in an academic nursing environment from three different regions: Texas, Kentucky, and Florida. For this study, I chose participants who are leaders in an academic nursing environment and have implemented successful strategies for the retention of employees. Feerasta (2016) found that participants who have effective proactive business management experience about a researcher's study are desirable candidates for the researcher to interview.

In this study, I addressed my central research question: What strategies do business leaders use to retain employees in an academic nursing environment? I conducted four interviews, which formed the essential information for this project and

answered my research question. Using my interview protocol, I asked each participant six questions:

- 1. What strategies do you use for employee retention?
- 2. How does your interpersonal relationship with employees affect your ability to manage employee retention?
- 3. How has onboarding impacted employee retention?
- 4. What barriers do you experience with implementing employee retention strategies?
- 5. How does your leadership style impact employee retention?
- 6. What additional information would you like to share on this topic?

After completing the interviews, I member checked, then analyzed the data collected using Microsoft Excel and ATLAS.ti computer software programs. From my analyses, I developed themes that supported my theoretical framework. My themes are (a) onboarding processes, (b) valued employees, (c) employee growth and advancement, and (d) communication and trust. My theoretical framework was Homan's SET, which used a psychological approach to explain individual perceptions and how leadership shapes human interactions (Thibaut, 2017). To protect the participants' identities, I labeled the transcriptions as P1 through P4 (where P1 means Participant 1). I completed data triangulation when I reviewed pertinent company documents that supported this study's research question. Documentation consisted of internal processes regarding onboarding of the prospective applicant; I also reviewed organizational hierarchy required prior to extending an offer.

Table 1

Participants' Responses that Support Themes

Participants	Onboarding process	Valued employee	Growth and advancement	Communication and trust
P1	Structured orientation process	Listening to employee – what is important to them	Training	Relationship built on trust and team approach
P2	Structured onboarding process Onboarding	Recognizing employee contribution	Training and development; opportunities for employee to lead	Regular honest communication and transparency
P3	Critical to employee retention	Employee believes you care about them	Leadership that allows development is critical to employee retention	Open door policy to discuss concerns without retribution
P4	Immerse in culture	Act as advocate or champion for the employee	Leadership that is collaborative, approachable and friendly	Remove barriers so employee can be successful

Onboarding Process

The participants in this study focused their employee retention success on the organization's onboarding process. Carter (2015) posited that onboarding is the most overlooked opportunity for promoting employee retention, and arranging a mentor/buddy system for the new employee assists the leader in successfully retaining the employee. P1 stated that "this is the most important tool leaders have to positively impact retention." P2 further qualified the importance of a structured onboarding process along a strong corporate culture assists in overall employee retention. If the culture does not fit with the employee's beliefs, the retention process will fail. Pritchard (2007) confirmed that the leader should focus on making the employee feel welcome by encouraging staff to introduce themselves and have the employee's work area ready to receive them. P3 concurred, further stating that "when a new hire is here, there is never too much attention that can be given to them. Getting them off on the right foot is a huge factor in having them stay." Further, Caldwell et al. (2018) agreed that understanding the ethical issues in the onboarding process will assist the leaders in improving the overall relationship between the employer and employee. P4 stated that "immersing them in the culture, you are more likely to retain them."

P1, P2 and P3 shared internal onboarding documentation with the researcher. The documentation was reviewed for this study consisted of internal processes regarding onboarding of the prospective applicant. P1 and P2 confirmed the importance of a structured onboarding process and the importance of employee retention. P3 confirmed the importance of immersing the employee into the culture of the organization. Keskes

(2014) posited that three distinct elements are important for employees to identify with, including belief in the goals and values of the company, dedication to meet the goals, and a desire to be a part of the organization. The working environment relationships between members of an organization could influence how an organization performs (Vahlhaus & Simon, 2014). Transformational leaders focus on changing the ethical ethos of their organization and promoting intellectual stimulation through inspirational methods (Yang et al., 2014).

Valued Employees

The participants each stated that listening skills, acknowledging, and recognizing an employee's contribution are all key factors for employee retention. Chen et al. (2014) found that servant leaders' behaviors promoted a positive culture where leaders focused on the personal and professional well-being of the employee. P2 stated "I am a firm believer in being a servant leader; it is my intent is to have them be better for having worked at the organization. Ideally, this will create trust, they will feel valued, they will be committed, successful, and productive." Kalidass and Bahron (2015) and Sun and Wang (2016) found that supportive leadership that valued their employees reduced turnover and increased employee retention. P1 stated it is important to identify those activities, work and non-work related, that make employees feel valued. "Valued employees remain loyal to a leader or organization more so than those that do not feel valued or included."

Choi et al. (2014) posited that SET is the major foundational framework for organization research. There are two types of exchanges that could occur in human

relationships (Blau, 2017), social and economic. The social aspect of the relationship relates to trust and the human feelings of belonging. The economic factor focusses on pay, performance, and other tangible items. The response to the semistructured interviews outlined the importance of the leader listening to the employee, the employee feeling the leader cares about them as a person, the leader being a champion for the employee, and recognition of the value the employee brings to the workplace. The documentation reviewed relating to the onboarding process and the various stages that followed directly correlate to the importance of inclusion and trust. Pichler (2012) suggested that the social connection between the supervisor and subordinate has a bearing on how the subordinate will respond and will provide context for the quality of the relationship moving forward. The employee who feels valued will believe they are contributing to the mission of the leadership and be likely to stay with the organization.

Growth and Advancement

Mandhanya (2015) recommended that leaders offer developmental training opportunities for their subordinates, which are another factor for long-term employee retention. P1 stated, "It is imperative to consider future growth and a pathway for advancement. Creating development plans provides a means for both the employee and manager to direct learning opportunities that support continued growth for the employee who then feels valued and is retained." Leaders who create an environment of growth and opportunity will foster a loyalty and commitment from the employee. Zhang, Long, and Zhang (2015) posited that employee retention consists of examinations of predictors, including compensation packages, advancement opportunities, and developmental

training. P2 stated, "Another area of vital importance is training and development. I believe all employees are emerging leaders. We must educate them and give them opportunities to lead." Fisher (2015) posited that developmental training challenged top performers and kept productive employees engaged, thereby improving retention.

Hackman and Oldham (1975) originated the first theories regarding job satisfaction as outlined in the JCT. Schultz and Schultz (2010) posited that JCT is one of the most cited theories in job satisfaction research. Shultz and Schultz suggested that the importance the employee places on their advancement and growth opportunity on the job may outline the strength of the relationship between the job characteristics and the personal and work-related outcomes. Judge and Zapata (2015) suggested that business researchers may find SET useful to explore in the function a leader fulfills in promoting a sense of employee obligation and positive work attitude (Judge & Zapata, 2015). Investing in professional development will yield employees with confidence and commitment to the organization. The documentation collected outlining the onboarding structure process used by the leaders in the organization supported the importance of the onboarding process in employee retention.

Communication and Trust

Brewster and Bauer (2016) posited that communication concentrated on the talent to transmit the written or spoken word. All four leaders in this study placed emphasis on communication and trust between the employee and the leader. P2 stated that "regular, honest communication builds trust and increases transparency." The participant further stated that understanding their personal emotional intelligence assisted them in

understanding the needs of the employee. P1 stated that her ability to listen to her employees and understand what is important to them built trust and open communication with her employees. Northouse (2013) believed that when a leader's behavior is in alignment with an employee's belief, then the leader's behavior will have a positive influence on the employee and deepen that employees respect and trust for the leader. P1 through P4 also stated that gaining an employee's trust through genuine and transparent communication will increase employee retention. Paladan (2015) posited that leaders who motivate their employees by promoting teamwork, will build trust and increase the employee's commitment to the organization. P4 went on to state that "I try to be very approachable and friendly with all my employees and I think that has a positive effect on retention of employees."

SET focused on the idea that interactions between a supervisor and subordinate could bring forth a positive relationship based on reciprocity (Chughtai et al., 2015). The semistructured interview process further confirmed SET in the themes that evolved. The participants concluded that relationships built on trust, transparency, and removing barriers that may affect the relationship between the supervisor and employee are a critical component to employee retention. When leadership and employees work together in a trusting and transparent environment, the harmonious state will allow for growth and sustainability. Chughtai et al. (2015) posited that leadership and employees who feel they received care and matter in the organization will work hard for the common goal.

Applications to Professional Practice

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore strategies business leaders use to retain employees in an academic nursing environment. The participants included four business leaders who have successfully used employee retention strategies in academic nursing environments in Texas, Kentucky, and Florida. Ertürk and Vurgun (2015) suggested that perceived organizational support will mediate the relationship between empowerment and retention for employees. The effects of a poor workforce retention may compromise an organization's ability to deliver quality customer service (Humphreys, Wakerman, Pashen, & Buykx, 2017). Organizational trust will create the environment necessary for employee commitment and retention (Ertürk & Vurgun, 2015).

Business leaders may use the information from this study by understanding the needs of their employees and a mutual understanding of the job expectations. Creating a work environment of commitment, understanding and expectations will minimize the risk of losing employees. Business leaders and their organization invest money from the initial recruiting and training of the employee. The loss of an employee is an additional business loss which business leaders seek to limit so that the organization may increase productivity and sustained growth. I have identified relational and transactional dimensions of meeting job expectations that an employer might provide which in turn will assist in the overall retention of an employee.

The U.S. Department of Labor Statistics (2015) data indicated that 2.7 million workers quit their jobs in March 2015. Some turnover is unavoidable, especially if the

employee must leave employment due to relocation, health issues, or the desire to return to school. Business leaders may use the results of this study to create a workplace environment with policies that attract employees as well as retain its current employees with opportunities that avoid turnover and improve retention.

The information in this study may also provide business leaders with the information necessary to grow professionally and use the knowledge and skills to assist them in the retention of employees. Employee retention is important to the success of an organization because retaining top performers will increase profit margins (Alshanbri et al., 2015). Steiner and Atterton (2014) posited that successful business leaders create opportunities that bring positive social change for the communities they serve. Odumeru and Ogbonna (2013) posited that leadership behaviors associated with individualized consideration would stimulate motivation, improve morale, increase performance and promote teamwork, which are all predictors of employee retention and turnover.

Employee retention affects a wide array of social and environmental factors that impact workforce retention. Retention strategies created by business leaders should be flexible to meet the specific needs of the workforce and incorporate evaluation strategies to assess the effectiveness of best practices (Humphreys, Wakerman, Pashen, & Buykx, 2017). Business leaders seeking to grow their organization and continue the company's sustainability will require focusing on the retention of their best employees for continued growth. Organizational buy-in acted as a buffer between job satisfaction and intent to stay (Hsai, 2018). Further, Hsai (2018) posited that an employee's buy-in to the organization's mission and strategy could be a competitive advantage for retaining talent. Business

leaders who retain talent in a community will stimulate a stronger economic growth in the community and continued sustainability and expansion of the organization.

The SET used a psychological approach to explain individual perceptions regarding power, status, conformity, and how leadership shapes human interactions (Thibaut, 2017). Trevigo and Tilly (2015) confirmed Homan's theory focused on the major concept that individuals are likely to repeat their behaviors if they predict positive results. The SET suggests that the more the value of the action an individual predicts, the more likely an individual will perform, which in turn may predict employee retention and satisfaction (Judge & Zapata, 2015). Judge and Zapata (2015) further posited that business researchers may use SET to explore how the leader can promote a sense of employee obligation and positive work attitude. Furthermore, Asiedu (2015) suggested that high levels of trust between employee and employers led to more dedicated employees thereby driving retention. The investment of the leadership in professional development for their employees will bring about an employee with confidence and commitment to the organization. Perceived organizational support and leader-member exchange, which are both tenets of SET, are two valuable assessments in the investigation and understanding of worker interactions (Banks et al., 2014). SET was a useful framework for this study as business leaders must understand all key factors that may assist in the retention of employees.

Implications for Social Change

This study supplements the existing body of knowledge to develop strategies and provide additional avenues for business leaders to retain employees and improve

professional business practices. Upon analyzing strategies for the retention of employees, an assessment is that there are potential implications in terms of tangible improvements for individuals, communities, organizations, institutions, and societies. The study of strategies that business leaders implement for the retention of employees has implications for social change. In qualitative analysis, prior research, and newly acquired knowledge point toward a worldview for social change (Trochim, Donnelly, & Arora, 2015). Banks, Vera, Pathak, & Ballard (2016) posited that positive social change occurs when people change their behavior to benefit society.

Retention of employees may promote the self-worth and dignity for those who may lack the skills and talent in their present position but may be a better fit in another position within the organization. I found a primary strategy for retention of employees is to incorporate Homans SET theory on how leadership can shape human interaction. Homans assessed that employees are more than likely to repeat a behavior if they found it successful in previous situations. Understanding the employee's motivation and creating a positive work environment may assist in employee retention. The business leaders who participated in this study did not state they incorporated SET in their process; however, as they explained their management style, they used the SET theory. As a result, the participants promoted the importance of listening to their staff, creating a positive work environment, and how their leadership style influenced the workplace and retention of the employees. Business leaders might use the information from the findings of this study to gain insight on job expectations and contribute to social change through improved work environments. Understanding job expectations of all employees allows for a fair and

diverse environment that provides equal opportunities for all employees which can impact retention.

Recommendations for Action

I recommend leaders implement policies and environments to retain employees. Addressing the identified themes might positively influence employees' satisfaction and influence the employee to stay with the organization. This, in turn, will have a positive impact on the time and cost spent to recruit and replace employees. Job satisfaction may lead to a better work-life balance. Business leaders who solicit employee input may also enhance job satisfaction as the employee may feel that you care about their concerns and value their input. Business leaders from all sectors of the business environment could work alongside their Human Resource professionals and develop strategies to incorporate in their onboarding process and beyond for the retention of employees.

Recommendations for Further Research

Delimitations are research constraints applied to the study to keep it manageable. One delimitation was restricting the data collected to the participant's experience and not from a reflection or interpretation of the organization's management team which may limit this study's results. Additional research on whether themes would vary from a different sample is appropriate. This study focused on three geographical areas, Texas, Kentucky, and Florida. The results of this study may have varied if the researcher examined the problem in other states. Another delimitation is the restriction in the design of this study. I explored employee retention strategies leaders use in an academic nursing environment. The leaders chosen are leaders who are responsible for retaining employees

and are in a management position. There were no other criteria for choosing of the participants for this study. If I chose a different set of parameters, the results may vary.

There are sufficient grounds for further research. As the workforce and changing business and healthcare environment evolves to serve future generations, so too will the need to have qualified nurses to meet the demands of the future. Further research may continue to focus on strategies leaders use in other business sectors to retain employees. Working with future leaders to develop leadership skills to focus on retention of employees will continue to enhance organization growth and focus on employee satisfaction. The adoption of best practices in the area of employee retention may assist business leaders in the reduction of employee turnover.

Although this study addresses retention concerns within an academic nursing environment and how this affects the healthcare field, a future researcher may examine the effectiveness of the prevention strategies used by business leaders to retain employees in other business environments. Further research may include whether the existing strategies managing retention in the new workforce such as millennials and Y generations. A future researcher may analyze the weaknesses and strengths of existing strategies to determine whether different styles of leadership may be necessary to assist with the skills needed to address this different demographic of workers.

Reflections

The process of interviewing and listening to the responses from the participants was enlightening. The scheduling and participation in the interview process were smooth and easy to schedule. The participants gave their consent to be audio-recorded and

appeared comfortable in the recording of the interview. The interviews were consistent with their structure, and I used the same set of interview questions with each participant. I transcribed the interview and gave the participant the opportunity to add or change any portion of the transcript review to assure reliability and validity respectively. The participants were passionate about sharing their expectations and opportunities with the retention of employees and placed emphasis on what they value. The participants appeared comfortable when sharing their perspectives.

Since I was an executive director within higher education, it was crucial to avoid biases, and I took care not to create interview questions that would be partial to any personal biases. Participants did not have a personal or professional work connection to me. Additionally, no participant in this study was a direct report to me which avoids any influence of the responses. I waited until I gathered all my data before starting the analysis to avoid early assumptions and swaying participants based on early interviews.

Conclusion

The findings from this case study revealed that leaders in an academic nursing environment can increase their employee retention by focusing on their onboarding process, creating an opportunity for growth and development. Based on the participants' experiences, leaders must first focus on the initial stages of the employee hire and the structure of the onboarding process. Once the decision is made to hire an employee, the first and foremost is to bring the employee onboard, making them feel at home, and creating an environment of acceptance. The initial 90 days of the new employee's time will form the relationships and trust necessary to connect with the employee and his/her

commitment. The findings of this study also indicated that by applying the strategies that emerged from the participants' responses, organizational leaders can increase productivity and organizational commitment. Most importantly, the cost of implementing the strategies is relatively inexpensive. Leaders should integrate these recommendations into the overall organizational retention strategy.

Retention of employees is critical to the growth and sustainability of an organization. The cost to replace employees can be substantial depending on the position, knowledge, and the experience the employee has in the organization. Company leaders may use the findings to create attractive job offerings to increase job satisfaction, and reduce recruiting, hiring, and turnover costs. Social change implications of business leaders include understanding the needs of its workforce to bring about job expectations and growth opportunities for the employee. Continued training and job opportunities may increase morale and might benefit employees' relationships with coworkers, families, and their communities. Overall satisfaction within the workplace will increase employee retention and improve sustainability and growth of the organization.

Since increasing retention of employees will improve productivity and profitability, the implementation of effective employee retention strategies is critical to the survival of organizations in today's competitive marketplace. When organizations are unable to retain employees, the future of the organization is at risk because employee turnover can lead to reduced profits as the result of loss of productivity and loss of knowledge. I recommend leaders in not only an academic nursing environment, but in

any business, large or small, use the findings and recommendations of this study to gain new insight on employee retention strategies to improve business practices.

References

- Abildgaard, J., Saksvic, P., & Nielsen, K. (2016). How to measure the intervention process? An assessment of qualitative and quantitative approaches to data collection in the process evaluation of organizational interventions. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 1-10: doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01380
- Acaster, S., Dickerhoof, R., DeBusk, K., Bernard, K., Strauss, W., & Allen, L. (2015).

 Qualitative and quantitative validation of the FACIT-fatigue scale in iron deficiency anemia. *Health & Quality of Life Outcomes, 13*(1), 1-10. doi:10.1186/s1295-015-0257-x
- Agyapong, V. O., Osei, A., Farren, C. K., & McAuliffe, E. (2015). Factors influencing the career choice and retention of community mental health workers in Ghana. *Human Resources for Health, 13*(5), 1-11. doi:10.1186/s12960-015-0050-2
- Al-Emadi, A. Q., Schwabenland, C., & Qi, W. (2015). The vital role of employee retention in human resource management: A literature review. *IUP Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *15*(3), 7-32. Retrieved from http://www.iupindia.in/Organizational_Behavior.asp
- Ali, S. A., Said, N. A., Yunus, N. M., Abd-Kader, S. F., Ab-Latif, D. S., & Munap, R. (2014). Hackman and Oldham's job characteristics model to job satisfaction. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 129, 46-52. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.646

- Allen, D. G., Bryant, P. C., & Vardaman, J. M. (2010). Retaining talent: Replacing misconceptions with evidence-based strategies. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 24(2), 48-64. doi:10.5465/AMP.2010.51827775
- Allen, D. G., Pelkotorpi, V., & Rubenstein, A. L. (2016). When "embedded" means "stuck": moderating effects of job embeddedness in adverse work environments.

 **Journal of Applied Psychology American Psychological Association, 101, 1670-1686. doi:10.1037/apl0000134
- Alonso, P., Moscoso, S., & Salgado, J. F. (2017). Structured behavioral interview as a legal guarantee for ensuring equal employment opportunities for women: A meta-analysis. *European Journal of Psychology Applied to Legal Context*, *9*, 15-23. doi:10.1016/j.ejpal.2016.03.002
- Alshanbri, N., Khalfan, M., Noor, M., Dutta, D., Zhang, K., & Maqsood, T. (2015).

 Employees' turnover, knowledge management, and human resource management:

 A case of Nitaqat program. *International Journal of Social Science and Humanity*, 5, 701-706. doi:10.7763/ijssh.205.v5.543
- Alvesson, M. & Sköldberg, K. (2016). *Reflexive methodology: New vistas for qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Apostolopoulos, N., & Liargovas, P. (2016). Regional parameters and solar energy enterprises: Purposive sampling and group AHP approach. *International Journal of Energy Sector Management*, *10*(1), 19-37. doi:10.1108/IJESM-11-2014-0009
- Arbour, S., Kwantes, C. T., Kraft, J. M., & Boglarsky, C. A. (2014). Person-organization fit: Using normative behaviors to predict workplace satisfaction, stress, and

- intentions to stay. *Journal of Organizational Culture, Communication, and Conflict, 18*(1), 41-64. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/journal-of-organizational-culture-communicationsand-conflict/
- Asiedu, E. (2015). Supportive organizational culture and employee job satisfaction: A critical source of competitive advantage. A case study in a selected banking company in Oxford City-UK. *International Journal of Social Sciences and Management*, 2, 290-300. doi:10.3126/ijssm.v2i3.12551
- Ballinger, G. A., Cross, R., & Holtmon, B. C. (2016). The right friends in the right places: Understanding network structure as a predictor of voluntary turnover. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101, 535. doi:10.1037/ap10000061
- Banks, G. C., Batchelor, J. H., Seers, A., O'Boyle, E. H., Pollack, J. M., & Gower, K. (2014). What does team–member exchange bring to the party? A metaanalytic review of team and leader social exchange. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *35*, 273-295. doi:10.1002/job.1885
- Banks, M., Vera, D., Pathak, S., & Ballard, K. (2016). Stakeholder management as a source of competitive advantage: A relationship and portfolio perspective.

 Organizational Dynamics, 45, 18-27. doi:10.1016/j.orgdyn.2015.12.003
- Barratt, M. J., Ferris, J. A., & Lenton, S. (2015). Hidden populations, online purposive sampling, and external validity: Taking off the blindfold. *Field Methods*, *27*, 3-21. doi:10.1177/1525822X14526838
- Baškarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case study guidelines. *The Qualitative Report*, *19*(40), 1-18. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/

- Baur, X., Budnik, L. T., Zhiwei, Z., Bratveit, M., Djurhuus, R., Verschoor, L., & Jepsen, J. R. (2015). Health risks in international container and bulk cargo transport due to volatile toxic compounds. *Journal of Occupational Medicine & Toxicology*, 10(1), 1-18. doi:10.1186/s12995-015-0059-4
- Becton, J. B., Gilstrap, J. B., & Forsyth, M. (2017). Preventing and correcting workplace harassment: Guidelines for employers. *Business Horizons*, 60(1), 101-111. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2016.09.005
- Belias, D., & Koustelios, A. (2014). The impact of leadership and change management strategy on organizational culture. *European Scientifique Journal*, 10, 451-470. Retrieved from http://www.eujournal.org/
- Bennett, A. M., Hill, R. P., & Daddario, K. (2015). Shopping while nonwhite: Racial discrimination among minority consumers. *The Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 49, 328-355. doi:10.1111/joca.12060
- Benoot, C., Hannes, K., & Bilsen, J. (2016). The use of purposeful sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example on sexual adjustment to a cancer trajectory. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *16*(21), 1-12. doi:10.1186/s12874-016-0114-6
- Bernard, H. R., Wutich, A., & Ryan, G. W. (2016). *Analyzing qualitative data:*Systematic approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Beynon, M. J., Jones, P., Pickernell, D., & Packham, G. (2015). Investigating the impact of training influence on employee retention in small and medium enterprises: A

- regression-type classification and ranking believe simplex analysis on sparse data. *Expert Systems*, *32*(1), 141-154. doi:10.1111/exsy.12067
- Bhalla, N. Sidhu, T., & Kaur, R. (2017). Human resource practices and commitment of employees in India's textile industry in context of management levels. *Journal of Management*, 12(2), 45-60. doi:10.26634/jmgt.12.2.13724
- Bhattacharya, I., & Ramachandran, A. (2015). A path analysis study of retention of healthcare professionals in urban India using health information technology. *Human Resources for Health, 12*(1), 1-14. doi:10.1186/s12960-015-0055-x
- Bhattacharyya, T., Mahajan, R., Ghoshal S., Yadav, B., & Rai, B. (2015).

 Hypofractionated radiotherapy in carcinoma breast: What we have achieved? *Journal of Cancer Research and Therapeutics*, (2), 259. doi:10.4103/0973-1482.157342
- Blau, P. (2017). Exchange and power in social life. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Bode, C., Singh, J., & Rogan, M. (2015). Corporate social initiatives and employee retention. *Organization Science*, *26*, 1702-1720. doi:10.1287/orsc.2015.1006
- Bottomley, K., Burgess, S., & Fox III, M. (2014). Are the behaviors of transformational leaders impacting organizations? A study of transformational leadership.

 *International Management Review, 10(1), 5-9. Retrieved from http://www.scholarspress.us/journals/IMR/PDF/pdf/IMR-1-2014/v10n1-art-1-pdf
- Boveda, I., & Metz, A. J. (2016). Predicting end-of-career transitions for baby boomers nearing retirement age. *Career Development Quarterly*, *64*, 153-168. doi:10.1002/cdq.12048

- Bozer, G. Sarros, J. C., Santora, J. C. (2014). Academic background and credibility in executive coaching effectiveness. *Personnel Review*, *43*(6), 81-89. doi:10.1108/PR-10-2013-0171
- Brady, N. C., Bruce, S., & Goldman, A. (2016). Communication services and supports for individuals with severe disabilities: Guidance for assessment and intervention.

 *American Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities, 121(2), 121-138. doi:10.1352/1944-7558-121.2.121
- Bryman, A., & Bell, E. (2015). *Business research methods*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Butt, S. M., Dahling, J. J., & Hansel, K. R. (2016). Ask and you shall receive? Right-wing authoritarianism shapes reactions to religious accommodation requests at work. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 104, 258-261. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2016.08.014
- Byerly, B. (2012). Measuring the impact of employee loss. *Performance Improvement*, 51, 40-47. doi:10.1002/pfi.21268
- Caganova, A. D., Cambal, M., & Weidlichova, L. S. (2015). Intercultural management:

 Trend of contemporary globalized world. *Electronics and Electrical Engineering*,

 102(6), 51-54. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/

 228368096_ Intercultural_Management Trend_of_

 Contemporary_Globalized_World

- Caldwell, C., & Peters, R. (2018). New employee onboarding psychological contracts and ethical perspectives. *Journal of Management Development*, *37*(1), 27–39. doi.10.1108/JMD-10-2016-0202
- Call, M. I., Nyberg, A. J., Ployhart, R. E., & Weekley, J. (2015). The dynamic nature of collective turnover and unit performance: The impact of time, quality, and replacements. *Academy of Management Journal*, 58, 1208-1232. doi:10.5465/amj.2013.0669
- Campbell, I., Boese, M., & Tham, J. (2016). Inhospitable workplaces? International students and paid work in food services. *Australian Journal of Social Issues,* 51(3), 279-299. Retrieved from https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2849687
- Campione, W. A. (2014). The influence of supervisor race, gender, age, and cohort on millennials' job satisfaction. *Journal of Business Diversity*, *14*, 18-34. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/jbdopen.html
- Carden, L. L., & Boyd, R. (2014). Age discrimination and the workplace: Examining a model for prevention. *Southern Journal of Business and Ethics, 6*, 58-68.

 Retrieved from http://www.salsb.org/sjbe/
- Carnahan, S, Kryscynski, D. & Olson, D. (2017). When does corporate social responsibility reduce employee turnover? Evidence from attorneys before and after 9/11. *Academy of Management Journal*, 60, 1932-1962. doi:10.5465/amj.2015.0032

- Carter, T. (2015). Hire right: The first time: How to improve your recruitment & onboarding process. *Journal of Property Management*, 80(3), 26-30. Retrieved from https://www.irem.org/resources/jpm
- Cerne, M., Nerstad, C. G. L., Dysvik, A., & Škerlavaj, M. (2014). What goes around comes around: Knowledge hiding, perceived motivational climate, and creativity. *Academy of Management Journal*, *57*(1), 172–92. doi:10.5465/amj.2012.0122
- Chen, Z., Zhu, J., & Zhou, M. (2014). Supplemental material for how does a servant leader fuel the service fire? A multilevel model of servant leadership, individual self-identity, group competition climate, and customer service performance.

 **Journal of Applied Psychology, 100, 511-521. doi:10.1037/a0038036.supp
- Chiumento, A., Rahman, A., Frith, L., Snider L. and Tol, W. A. (2017). Ethical standards for mental health and psychosocial support research in emergencies: review of literature and current debates. *Globalization and Health, 13*(8). doi:10.1186/s12992-017-0231-y
- Chiloane-Tsoka, E. (2013). The influence of corporate culture on organizational change of first national bank of Namibia. *Business & Management Review, 3*(2), 34-42. Retrieved from http://www.bmr.businessjournalz.org
- Cho, J., & Lee, E. (2014). Reducing confusion about grounded theory and qualitative content analysis: Similarities and differences. *Qualitative Report*, *19*, 1-20.

 Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Choi, L., Lotz, S. L., & Kim, M. (2014). The impact of social exchange-based antecedents on customer organizational citizenship behaviors (COCBs) in service

- recovery. *Journal of Marketing Development & Competitiveness*, 8(3), 11-24. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/jmdcopen.html
- Choi Sang, L., & Perumal, P. (2014). Examining the impact of human resource management practices on employees' turnover intention. *International Journal of Business and Society*, *15*(1), 111-126. doi:10.5840/labsproc19991092
- Christensen, A., Ekholm, O., Glumer, C., & Juel, K. (2014). Effect of survey mode on response patterns: Comparison of face-to-face and self-administered modes in health surveys. *Journal of Public Health*, *24*, 327–332. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckt067
- Christie, J. (2014). Cochrane review brief: Exit interviews to reduce turnover amongst healthcare professionals. *Online Journal of Issues in Nursing, 19*(3), 1-20. doi:10.3912/OJIN.VoffNo03CRBCo103
- Chughtai, A., Byrne, M. & Flood, B. (2015). Linking ethical leadership to employee well-being: The role of trust in the supervisor. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *128*, 653-663. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2126-7
- Church, A. H. (2014). What do we know about developing leadership potential? The role of OD strategic talent management. *OD Practitioner*, 46(3), 52-61. Retrieved from http://www.odnetwork.org/?Publications
- Claussen, J., Grohsjean, T., Luger, J., & Probst, G. (2014). Talent management and career development: What it takes to get promoted. *Journal of World Business*, 49, 236-244. doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2013.11.00

- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 473-478. doi:10.1111/jan.12163
- Coetzee, M., & Stoltz, E. (2015). Employees' satisfaction with retention factors:

 Exploring the role of career adaptability. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 89, 83-91. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2015.04.012
- Collins, J. C. (2016). Retaliatory strike or fired with cause: a case study of gay identity disclosure and law enforcement. *New Horizons in Adult Education & Human Resource Development*, 28, 23-45. doi:10.1002/nha3.20129.
- Collins, C. S., & Cooper, J. E. (2014). Emotional intelligence and the qualitative researcher. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *13*, 88–103. Retrieved from http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/IJQM
- Cook, I. (2016). How to reduce employee turnover with workforce analytics. Retrieved from https://www.visier.com/workforce-intelligence-101/reduce-employee-turnover-with-workforce-analytics/
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*, 89-91. doi:10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Corbin, J., Strauss, A., & Strauss, A. L. (2014). *Basics of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Corlett, S., & Morris, R. (2015). Exploring employee engagement with (corporate) social responsibility: A social exchange perspective on organizational participation. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *127*, 537-548. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2057-3

- Corti, L., & Van den Eynden, V. (2015). Learning to manage and share data: Jump-starting the research methods curriculum. *International Journal of Social*Research Methodology, 5, 545-559. doi:10.1080/13645579.2015.1062627
- Coşar, A., Kerem, N.G., and Tybout, J. (2016). Firm dynamics, job turnover, and wage distributions in an open economy. *American Economic Review*, *106*, 625-633. doi:10.1257/aer.20110457
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. Thousand Oaks: CA: Sage Publications.
- Delcourt, C., Gremier, D. D., van Riel, A. C. R., & van Birgelen, M. J. H. (2015).
 Employee emotional competence constructs conceptualization and validation of a customer-based measure. *Journal of Service Research*, 19, 72-87.
 doi:10.1177/1094670515590776
- Demerouti, E., Peeters, M. W., & van der Heijden, B. M. (2014). Work-family interface from a life and career stage perspective: The role of demands and resources.

 International Journal of Psychology, 47, 241-258.

 doi:10.1080/00207594.2012.699055
- Dhar, R.L. (2015). Service quality and the training of employees: The mediating role of organizational commitment. *Tourism Management*, *46*, 419-430. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2014.08.001

- Dibrell, C., Craig, J. B., & Neubaum, D. O. (2014). Linking the formal strategic planning process, planning flexibility, and innovativeness to firm performance. *Journal of Business Research*, 67, 2000-2007. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.10.011
- Dinh, J. E., Lord, R. G., Gardner, W. L., Meuser, J. D., Liden, R. C., & Hu, J. (2014).

 Leadership theory and research in the new millennium: Current theoretical trends and changing perspectives. *Leadership Quarterly*, *25*, 36-62.

 doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.11.005
- Doring, T., & Wansink, B. (2015). The waiter's weight: Does a server's BMI relate to how much food diners order? *Environment and Behavior*, *67*, 23-45. doi:10.1177/0013916515621108
- Durrani, A. S., & Rajagopal, L. (2016). Restaurant human resource managers' attitudes towards workplace diversity, perceptions, and definition of ethical hiring. *International Journal of Hospitality Management, 53*, 145-151.

 doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.10.009
- Eccles, R. G., Ioannou, I., & Serafeim, G. (2014). The impact of corporate sustainability on organizational processes and performance. *Management Science*, 60, 2835-2857. doi:10.3386/w17950
- Guillén, M., Ferrero, I., & Hoffman, W. M. (2015). The neglected ethical and spiritual motivations in the workplace. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *128*(4), 803-816. doi.10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.05.001

- Edmonds, W. A., & Kennedy, T. D. (2012). *An applied reference guide to research designs: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Eika, M., Dale, B., Espnes, G.A., & Hvalvik, S. (2015). Nursing staff interactions during the older residents' transition into long-term care facility in a nursing home in rural Norway. An ethnographic study. *BMC Health Services Research*, *15*(1), 1-12. doi:10.1186/s12913-015-0818-z
- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).

 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *Sage Open, 4*, 1-10. doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- Ertürk, A., & Vurgun, L. (2015). Retention of IT professionals: Examining the influence of empowerment, social exchange, and trust. *Journal of Business Research*, 68(1), 34-46. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.05.010
- Feldman, Y., and Kricheli-Katz, T. (2015). The human mind and human rights: A call for an integrative study of the mechanisms generating employment discrimination across different social categories. *Law & Ethics of Human Rights*, *9*, 43-67. doi:10.1515/lehr-2015-0005
- Feerasta, J. (2016). Individuals with intellectual disabilities in the restaurant business: An exploratory study of attributes for success. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, 16(1), 22-38. doi:10.1080/15332845.2016.1202047
- Fink, M., Frank, H., Gundolf, K., & Kailer, N. (2014). Management of qualitative change in small and medium-sized enterprises: A kaleidoscope of theoretical and

- empirical research. *Review of Managerial Science*, *9*, 219–224. doi:10.1007/s11846-014-0153-5
- Finkelstein, L. M., King, E. B., & Voyles, E. C. (2014). Age meta-stereotyping and crossage workplace interactions: A meta view of age stereotypes at work. *Work, Aging and Retirement, 1,* 26-40. doi:10.1093/worker/wau002
- Fisher, C. (2015). Meaningful strategies for retention. *Nursing Management*, 46(10), 21-22. doi:10.1097/01.numa.0000471585.23938.6f
- Folta, S., Glenn, M. E., & Kynskey, V. M. (2017). Healthier children's meals in restaurants: An exploratory study to inform approaches that are acceptable across stakeholders. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior, 49*, 235-248. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2016.11.009
- Frazis, H., & Loewenstein, M. A. (2013). How responsive are quits to benefits? *Journal of Human Resources*, 48, 969-997. doi:10.3368/jhr.48.4.969
- Gialuisi, O., & Coetzer, A. (2013). An exploratory investigation into employee voluntary turnover and retention in small businesses. *Small Enterprise Research*, *20*, 55-68. doi:10.5172/ser.2013.20.1.55
- Gohen, G., Blake, R., & Goodman, D (2016). Does turnover intention matter?

 Evaluating the usefulness of turnover intention rate as a predictor of actual turnover rate. *Review of Public Personnel Administration Journal*, *36*, 240-263. doi:10.1177/0734371X15581850

- Goldman, R. E., Parker, D. R., Brown, J., Walker, J., Eaton, C. B., & Borkan, J. M. (2015). Recommendations for a mixed methods approach to evaluating the patient-centered medical home. *Annals of Family Medicine*, *13*, 168-175. doi:10.1370/afm.1765
- Gonos, J., & Gallo, P. (2013). The model for leadership style evaluation. *Management,* 18, 157-168. Retrieved from http://www.efst.hr/management/
- Graham, M. E., Murray, B., & Amuso, L. (2002). Stock-related rewards, social identity, and the attraction and retention of employees in entrepreneurial SMEs. In

 Managing People in Entrepreneurial Organizations (pp. 107-145). Emerald
 Group Publishing Limited. doi:10.1016/S1074-7540%2802%2905006-7
- Grant, A. (2014). Troubling lived experience: A post structural critique of mental health nursing qualitative research assumptions. *Journal of Psychiatric & Mental Health Nursing*, *21*, 544-549. doi:10.1111/jpm.12113
- Gray, D. (2014). Succession planning 101. *Professional Safety, 59(3), 35*. Retrieved from http://www.asse.org
- Griffin, B., Piers, B.-S., & Hesketh. (2016). The longitudinal effects of perceived age discrimination on the job satisfaction and work withdrawal of older employees. *Work, Aging, and Retirement, 36,* 415–427. doi:10.1093workar/waw014
- Guchait, P., Ruetzlerb, T. Taylor, J. & Toldi, J. (2014). Video interviewing: A potential selection tool for hospitality managers A study to understand applicant perspective. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *36*, 90-100. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2013.08.004

- Guerrero, L., & Singh, S. (2013). The psychology of working: A case study of Mexican American women with low educational attainment. *Career Development Quarterly*, 61, 27-31. doi:10.1002/j.2161-0045.2013.00033.x
- Hackman, J., Lawler, E, & Oldham, G. R. (2015). Job characteristic theory. In J. B.Minor (Ed.), Organizational behavior: Essential theories of motivation and leadership (pp. 75-94). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hackman, J., & Oldham, G. R. (1975). Development of the Job Diagnostic Survey. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, (2), 159. doi:10.1037/h0076546
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38, 23-38. doi:10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- Hauff, S., Richter, N., & Tressin, T. (2015). Situational job characteristics and job satisfaction: The moderating role of national culture. *International Business Review*, *24*(4), 1-33. doi:10.1016/j.ibusrev.2015.01.003
- Hawkey, J. (2017). Exit Strategy Planning: Grooming your business for sale or succession. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Hazavehei, S. M., Moonaghi, H. K., Moeini, B., Moghimbeigi, A., & Emadzadeh, A.
 (2015). Investigating the key factors in designing a communication skills program for medical students: A qualitative study. *Electronic Physician*, 7, 1441-1448.
 doi:10.19082/144
- Hatch, M. J. (2018). *Organization theory: Modern, symbolic, and postmodern perspectives*. Oxford, England: Oxford University Press.

- He, Z., Zhang, X. & Zhang, M. (2014). Reducing the voluntary turnover rate of dispatched employees by the DMAIC process. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 25, 842-855. doi:10.1080/14783363.2014.904573
- Helm, S. (2013). A matter of reputation and pride: Associations between perceived external reputation: Pride in membership, job satisfaction and turnover intentions. *British Journal of Management*, 24, 542-556. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8551.2012.00827.x
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2017). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: how many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, *27*, 591-608. doi:10.1177/1049732316665344
- Henriques, G. (2014). In search of collective experience and meaning: A transcendental phenomenological methodology for organizational research. *Human Studies*, *37*, 451-468. doi:10.1007/s10746-014-9332-2
- Hernandez-Hernandez, F., & Sancho-Gil, J. (2015). A learning process within an education research group: an approach to learning qualitative research methods.

 International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 18, 651-667.

 doi:10.1080/13645579.2015.1049468
- Hersch, J, & Shinall, J. B. (2015). Fifty years later: The legacy of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. *Journal of Policy Analysis & Management, 34*, 424-456. doi:10.1002/pam.21824
- Holtom, B. C., & Burch, T. C (2016). A model of turnover-based disruption in customer services. *Human Resource Management Review*, 26(1), 25-36.

- doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2015.09.004
- Homans, G. C. (1961). *Social behavior: Its elementary forms*. Oxford, England: Harcourt, Brace.
- Hsia, S. (2018). The role of organizational buy-in in employee retention (Doctoral dissertation, Seattle Pacific University).
- Huang, H., Cheng, T. C. E., Fan-Huang, W., and Teng, C. (2018). Impact of online gamers' personality traits on interdependence, network convergence, and continuance intention: Perspective of social exchange theory. *International Journal of Information Management*, 38(1) 232-242.

 doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2017.08.009
- Huang, M., Li, P., Meschke, F., & Guthrie, J. P. (2015). Family firms, employee satisfaction, and corporate performance. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, *34*, 108-127. doi:10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2015.08.002
- Humphreys J, Wakerman J, Pashen D, Buykx P. (2009). Retention strategies and incentives for health workers in rural and remote areas: What works? Canberra, ACT: Australian Primary Health Care Research Institute.
- Hyett, N. Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, *9*, 1-13. doi:10.3402/qhw.v9.23606
- Jack, S., DiCenso, A., & Lohfeld, L. (2016). Opening doors: Factors influencing the establishment of a working relationship between paraprofessional home visitors

- and at-risk families. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research Archive, 34*(4), 59-69. Retrieved from http://cjnr.archive.mcgill.ca/article/view/1792/1789
- Jain, S. K., & Jain, N. (2014). Business succession planning in Indian MSM-FOBEs: A
 112 study based on managerial-role employees. *Global Business Review*, 15, 517-530. doi:10.1177/0972150914535138
- Jha, S. (2014). Transformational leadership and psychological empowerment:

 Determinants of organizational citizenship behavior. *South Asian Journal of Global Business Research*, 3(1), 18-35. doi:10.1108/SAJGBR-04-2012-0036
- Johnson, C. E. (2017). *Meeting the ethical challenges of leadership: Casting light or shadow*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Jordan, S. (2014). Research Integrity, image manipulation, and anonymizing photographs in visual social science research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 17,* 441-454. doi:10.1080/13645579.2012.759333
- Judge, T. A., & Zapata, C. P. (2015). The person-situation debate revisited: Effect of situation strength and trait activation on the validity of the Big Five personality traits in predicting job performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 58, 1149-1179. doi:10.5465/amj.2010.0837
- Kalidass, A., & Bahron, A. (2015). The relationship between perceived supervisor support, perceived organizational support, organizational commitment and employee turnover intention. *International Journal of Business Administration*, 6(5), 82-89. doi:10.5430/ijba.v6n5p82
- Karatuna, I. (2015). Targets' coping with workplace bullying: a qualitative study.

- Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management, 10(1), 21-37. doi:10.1108/QROM-09-2013-1176
- Karatepe, O. M., & Shahriari, S. (2014). Job embeddedness as a moderator of the impact of organizational justice on turnover intentions: A study in Iran. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, 16(1), 22-32. doi:10.1002/jtr.1894
- Katsos, J. E., & Fort, T. L. (2016). Leadership in the promotion of peace: Interviews with the 2015 Business for Peace honorees. *Business Horizons*, *59*, 463-470. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2016.03.010
- Kastner, M., Antony, J., & Straus, S. E. (2016). Conceptual recommendations for selecting the most appropriate knowledge synthesis method to answer research questions related to complex evidence. *Journal of Epidemiology*, 73, 43-49. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2015.11.022
- Keskes, I. (2014). Relationship between leadership styles and dimensions of employee organizational commitment: A critical review and discussion of future directions. *Intangible Capital*, 10, 26-51. doi:10.3926/ic.476
- King, T. L. (2016). A tale of two theories: Human capital theory vs. social exchange theory and the impact of employee development on organizational outcomes (Order No. 10125950). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1796990041).
- Kivlighan, D. M., Hill, C. E., Gelso, C. J., & Baumann, E. (2016). Working alliance, real relationship, session quality, and client improvement in psychodynamic

- psychotherapy: A longitudinal actor partner interdependence model. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 63(2), 149-161. doi:10.1037/cou0000134
- Kloek, M. E., Peter, K., & Wagner, L. (2015). Reflections on measuring discrimination:

 The case of outdoor recreation. *Journal of Economic & Social Geography*, 106,

 353-358. doi:10.1111/tesg.12148
- Kossivi, B., Xu, M., & Kalgora, B. (2016). Study on determining factors of employee retention. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, *4*, 261-268. doi:10.4236/jss.2016.45029
- Kryscynski, D. & Ulrich, D. (2015). Making strategic human capital relevant: A timesensitive opportunity. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 29, 357-369. doi:10.5465/amp.2014.0127
- Kuo, Y.K. (2013). Organizational commitment in an intense competition environment.*Industrial Management & Data System, 113*(1), 39–59.doi:10.1108/02635571311289656
- Kuo, H., Lin, K., & Li, I. (2014). The mediating effects of job satisfaction on turnover intention for long-term care nurses in Taiwan. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 22, 225-233. doi:10.1111/jonm.12044
- Laperrière, E., Messing, K., & Bourbonnais, R. (2017). Work activity in food service:

 The significance of customer relations, tipping practices and gender for preventing musculoskeletal disorders. *Applied Economics*, *58*, 89-101. doi:10.1016/j.apergo.2016.05.013

- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2013). *Practical research: Planning and design* (10th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Lees, J. (2013) Making all the right moves. *Occupational Health Safety*, 76, 126-128.

 Retrieved from http://pesquisa.bvsalud.org/portal/resource/es/mdl-17595977
- LePine, M. A., Zhang, Y., Crawford, E. R., & Rich, B. L. (2016). Turning their pain to gain: Charismatic leader influence on follower stress appraisal and job performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, *59*, 1036-1059. doi:10.5465/amj.2013.0778
- Lester, J. (2013). Work-life balance and cultural change: A narrative of eligibility. *The Review of Higher Education*, *36*, 463-488. doi:10.1353/rhe.2013.0037
- Lindlof, T. R., & Taylor, B. C. (2017). *Qualitative communication research methods*.

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Luchenitser, A. J. (2016). "Religious Freedom" as a tool to oppress: The explosion in religion-based attacks on civil rights in litigation. *Social Sciences*, *5*(4), 52-91. doi:10.3390/socsci5040052
- Lyness, K. S., & Judiesch, M. K. (2001). Are female managers quitters? The relationships of gender, promotions, and family leaves of absence to voluntary turnover. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *86*, 1167. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.86.6.1167
- Lynn, M., & Brewster Z. B. (2015). Racial and ethnic differences in tipping: The role of perceived descriptive and injunctive tipping norms. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 56(1), 68-79. doi:10.1177/1938965514553466

- Maletic, M., Dahlgaard, J., Dahlgaard-Park, S., & Gomišcek, B. (2015). Do corporate sustainability practices enhance organizational economic performance?
 International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences, 7, 184-200.
 doi:10.1108/IJQSS-02-2015-0025
- Mandhanya, Y. (2015). Training and development strategies: Motivational tool for increasing employee retention. *Training & Development Journal*, 6, 15-20. doi:10.5958/2231-069x.2015.00002.5
- Mason, J. (2017). *Qualitative researching*. Thousand Oaks, CA. Sage Publications.
- Marais, C., & Van Wyk, C. de W. (2014). Methodological reflection on the coconstruction of meaning within the South African domestic worker sector: Challenging the notion of "voicelessness." *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 5, 726-738. doi:10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n20p726
- Marbury, R., & Mayer R. (2013). Connecting the dots among people, budgets, and missions. *Public Manager*, *42*(1), 58-60. Retrieved from http://www.thepublicmanager.org
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2014). *Designing qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- McAuliffe, E., Daly, M., Kamwendo, F., Masanja, H., Sidat, M., & de Pinho, H. (2013).

 The critical role of supervision in retaining staff in obstetric services: A three country study. *Plos ONE*, 8(1), 1-7. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0058415
- McCauley-Smith, C., Williams, S., Gillon, A. C., Braganza, A., & Ward, C. (2013).

 Individual leader to interdependent leadership: A case study in leadership

- development and tripartite evaluation. *Advances in Developing Human Resources* 15, 83-105. doi:10.1177/1523422312466982
- McClean, E. J., Burris, E. R., & Detert, J. R. (2013). When does voice lead to exit? It depends on leadership. *Academy of Management Journal*, *56*, 525-548. doi:10.5465/amj.2011.0041
- McCusker, K., & Gunavdin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods and choices based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*, 537-542. doi:10.1177/0267659114559116
- McDermott, A. M., Conway, E., Rousseau, D. M., & Flood, P. C. (2013). Promoting effective psychological contracts through leadership: The missing link between HR strategy and performance. *Human Resource Management*, *52*, 289-310. doi:10.1002/hrm.21529
- McKee, G. & Froelich, K. (2016). Executive succession planning: Barriers and substitutes in nonprofit organizations. *Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics*, 87, 587-601. doi:10.1111/apce.12129
- McKim, C. A. (2015). The value of mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods**Research, 11(2), 202-222. doi:10.1177/1558689815607096
- McPhee, W. (2014). A new sustainability model: engaging the entire firm. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 35, 4-12. doi:10.108/JBS-11-2013-0106
- Memon, M. A., Salleh, R., Baharom, M. R., & Harun, H. (2014). Person-organization fit and turnover intention: The mediating role of employee engagement, *Global*

- Business & Management Research, 6, 205-209. Retrieved from http://www.gbmr.ioksp.com
- Merhar, C. (2013). *Employee retention the real cost of losing an employee*. Retrieved from http://www.zanebenefits.com/blog/bid/312123/Employee-Retention-The-Real-Cost-of-Losing-an-Employee
- Meyer, J. P., Morin, J. S. & Vandenberghe, C. (2015). Dual commitment to organization and supervisor: A person-centered approach. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 88, 56-72. doi:10.1016j.jvb.2015.02.001
- Meyer-Rath, G., Pienaar, J., Brink, B., van Zyl, A., Muirhead, D., Grant, A., & Vickerman, P. (2015). The impact of company-level art provision to a mining workforce in South Africa. A cost-benefit analysis. *Plos Medicine*, *12*(9), 1-26. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001869
- Michela, J. L., & Vena, J. (2012). A dependence-regulation account of psychological distancing in response to major organizational change. *Journal of Change Management*, 12(1), 77-94. doi:10.1080/14697017.2011.652376
- Miller, R. L. (2017). *Business Law Today, Comprehensive*. New York, NY: Cengage Learning.
- Mitroff, I. I. (2016) Wisdom: How the leaders of purpose-driven organizations manage from their values in: Combatting disruptive change (pp. 47-63). New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Moriano, J. A., Molero, F., Topa, G., & Mangin, J. P. L. (2014). The influence of transformational leadership and organizational identification on

- intrapreneurship. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 10(1), 103-119. doi:10.1007/s11365-011-0196-x
- Morse, A., & McEvoy, C. D. (2014). Qualitative research in sports management: Case study as a methodological approach. *Qualitative Report, 19,* 1-13. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, *25*, 1212-1222. doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Morse, J. M. (2016). *Mixed method design: Principles and procedures*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Mullins, W. & Schoar, A. (2016). How do CEOs see their roles? Management philosophies and styles in family and non-family firms. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 119(1), 24-42. doi:10.10.1016/j.j.fineco.2015.08.011
- Munn, Z., Porritt, K., Lockwood, C., Aromataris, E., & Pearson, A. (2014). Establishing confidence in the output of qualitative research synthesis. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *14*, 108-114. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-14-108
- Na Ayudhya, U. C. (2015). The generation game. *Human Resource Management International Digest*, 23(5), 29-32. doi:10.1108/HRMID-05-2015-008
- Naca, C., Rempel, D., Imada, A., Alexandre, M., & Janowitz, I. (2016). Overcoming production disruption when adopting new technologies: Application of macroergonomics and safety culture: *Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory*.
 Retrieved from https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7018z63z

- Nahrgang, J. D., Morgeson, F. P., & Hofmann, D. A. (2011). Safety at work: A

 Metaanalytic investigation of the link between job demands, job resources,
 burnout, engagement, and safety outcomes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 96,
 71-94. doi:10.1037/a0021484
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and

 Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and*guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. Washington, DC:

 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Newton, C., & Teo, S. (2014). Identification and occupational stress: A stress-buffering perspective. *Human Resource Management*, *53*(1), 89-113. doi:10.1002/hrm.21598
- Ng, T. W., & Feldman, D. C. (2014). Community embeddedness and work outcomes:

 The mediating role of organizational embeddedness. *Human Relations*, 67(1), 71103. doi:10.1177/0018726713486946
- Nicolaides, A., & McCallum, D. C. (2013). Inquiry in action for leadership in turbulent times: Exploring the connections between transformative learning and adaptive leadership. *Journal of Transformative Education*, 11, 246-260. doi:10.1177/1541344614540333
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18(2), 34-35. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Northouse, P. G. (2013). *Leadership Theory and Practice* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Northouse, P. G. (2018). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (8th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Novak, A. (2014). Anonymity, confidentiality, privacy, and identity: The ties that bind and break in communication research. *Review of Communication*, *14*, 36-48. doi:10.1080/15358593.2014.942351
- Odumeru, J. A., & Ogbonna, I. G. (2013). Transformational vs. transactional leadership theories: Evidence in literature. *International Review of Management and Business Research*, 2, 355-361. Retrieved from http://www.irmbrjournal.com
- Olsen, J. D., McAllister, C., Grinnell, L. D., Walters, K. G., Appunn, F. (2016). Applying constant comparative method with multiple investigators and inter-coder reliability. *Qualitative Report*, *21*, 26-42. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss1/3O
- Kane, C., & Cunningham, J. (2014). Turnaround leadership core tensions during the company turnaround process. *European Management Journal*, 32, 963-980. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2014.04.004
- Onwuegbuzie, A., & Byers, V. (2014). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretations of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research. *International Journal of Education*, 6, 183-246. doi:10.5296/ije.v6i1.4399
- Oseghale O.R., Mulyata J., Debrah Y.A. (2018). Global Talent Management. In:

 Machado C., Davim J. (eds). *Organizational Behaviour and Human Resource Management*. Management and Industrial Engineering. Springer, Cham.

 doi:10.1007/978-3-319-66864-2_6

- Oshagbemi, T., & Ocholi, S. A. (2013). Influences on leadership behaviour: A binomial logit model. *International Journal of Social Economics*, 40, 102–115. doi:10.1108/03068291311283580
- Paillé, P. (2013). Organizational citizenship behavior and how important are turnover cognitions? *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *24*, 768-790. doi:10.1080/09585192.2012.697477
- Palanski, M., Avey, J., & Jiraporn, N. (2014). The effects of ethical leadership and abusive supervision on job search behaviors in the turnover process. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 121, 135-146. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1690-6
- Palinkas, L., Horwitz, S., Green, C., Wisdom, J., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015).
 Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration & Policy in Mental Health & Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Parker, L. (2014). Qualitative perspectives: Through a methodological lens. Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management, 11(1), 13-28. doi:10.1108/QRAM-02-2014-0013
- Parris, D. L., & Peachey, J. W. (2013). Encouraging servant leadership: A qualitative study of how a cause-related sporting event inspires participants to serve.

 Leadership, 9, 486-512. doi:10.1177/1742715012470675
- Pauly, J. A., & Buzzanell, P. M. (2016). Considering differences in diversity management: A critical take on practices and policies around the world. Scandinavian Journal of Management, 32, 114-118.

- doi:10.1016/j.scaman.2016.03.001
- Pavlovich, K, Sinha, P. N., & Rodrigues, M. (2016). A qualitative case study of MNE legitimacy: The Fonterra-Sanlu IJV corporate milk scandal in China. *International Journal of Emerging Markets, 11,* 42-56. doi:10.1108/IjoEM-02-2014-0018
- Peltokorpi, V., Allen, D. G., & Froese, F. (2015). Organizational embeddedness, turnover intentions, and voluntary turnover: The moderating effects of employee demographic characteristics and value orientations. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *36*, 292-312. doi:10.1002/job.1981
- Pengqian, F., Xiangli, L., Lingxiao, H., Xiaoyan, Z., & Zi, F. (2014). Factors that influence the turnover intention of Chinese village doctors based on the investigation results of Xiangyang city of Hubei province. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 13, 7-24. doi:10.1186/s12939-014-0084-4
- Percy, W. H., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in psychology. *Qualitative Report, 20,* 76-85. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/
- Perrot, B. (2015). Building the sustainable organization: An integrated approach. *Journal of Business Strategy*, *36*, 41-51. doi:10.1108/JBS-06-2013-0047
- Pfeffer, J. (2013). You're still the same: Why theories of power hold over time and across contexts. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, *27*, 269-280. doi:10.5465/amp.2013.0040

- Pichler, S. (2012). The social context of performance appraisal and appraisal reactions: A meta-analysis. *Human Resource Management*, *51*, 709-732. doi:10.1002/hrm.21499
- Porter, C., & Woo, S.E. (2015). Untangling the networking phenomenon: A dynamic psychological perspective on how and why people network. *Journal of Management*, 41, 1477-1500. doi:10.1177/0149206315582247
- Praus, D., & Mujtaba, B. G. (2015). Conflict management practices for diverse workplaces. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, *6*(3), 13-22. Retrieved from http://jbsq.org/archives
- Predişcan, M., & Roiban, R. N. (2014). The main forces driving change in the Romanian SME's. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *124*, 236–245. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.02.482
- Pritchard, C. W. (2007). 101 Strategies for recruiting success: Where, when, and how to find the right people every time. New York, NY: Amacom Books.
- Pritchard, K., & Whiting, R. (2014). Baby boomers and the lost generation: On the discursive construction of generations at work. *Organization Studies*, *35*, 1605-1626. doi:10.1177/0170840614550732
- Priyanko, G., Ruetzlerb, T., Taylor, J., & Toldi, J. (2014). Video interviewing: A potential selection tool for hospitality managers A study to understand applicant perspective. *International Journal of Hospitality Management, 36*, 90-100.

 Retrieved from www.elsevier.com/locate/ijhosman

- Raeburn, T., Schmied, V., Hungerford, C., & Cleary, M. (2015). The contribution of case study design to supporting research on clubhouse psychosocial rehabilitation.

 **BMC Research Notes*, 8(1), 1-7. doi:10.1186/s13104-015-1521-1
- Ritchie, J., & Ormston, R. (2014). The applications of qualitative methods to social research. In J. Ritchie, J. Lewis, C. Nicholls, & R. Ormston (Eds.), *Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers* (2nd ed.) (pp. 27-44). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Rubeiro, N., & Semedo A. S. (2014). Human resources management practices and turnover intentions: The mediating role of organizational justice. *IUP Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *13*(1), 7-32. Retrieved from http://www.iupindia.in/Organizational Behavior.asp
- Ryu, S., & Lee, Y. (2013). Examining the role of management in turnover. *Public Performance & Management Review*, *37*, 134-153. doi:10.2753/PMR1530-9576370106
- Saha, S. K. (2014). Social change research the relationship between appreciative inquiry and social construction. *Al Practitioner*, *16*, 41-46. doi:10.12781/978-1-907549-20-5-6
- Sahu, S. & Parthardikar, A. D. (2014). Job cognition and justice influencing organizational attachment: An assessment through SEM. *Sage Open*, 1-12. doi:10.1177/2158244014524210
- Sanjari, M., Bahramnezhad, F., Fomani, F., Sho-ghi, M., & Cheraghi, M. (2014). Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: the necessity to develop a specific

- guideline. *Journal of Medical Ethics and History of Medicine*, 7, 2-6. Retrieved from http://jmehm.tums.ac.ir
- Sarti, D. (2014). Leadership styles to engage employees: Evidence from human service organizations in Italy. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, *26*, 202–216. doi:10.1108/JWL-09-2013-0066
- Schein, E. H., (2010). Organizational culture and leadership (4th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Schneider, A. (2015). Reflexivity in sustainability accounting and management:

 Transcending the economic focus of corporate sustainability. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 127, 525–536. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2058-2
- Schulman, J. F. (2017 March 20). Elimination of bias in the legal workplace and society.

 Retrieved from: https://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/events/

 professional responsibility/2017%
- Schultz, D. and Schultz, S. E. (2010). *An Introduction to Industrial and Organizational Psychology*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Schwarzfeld, M. D., & Sperling, F. H. (2014). Species delimitation using morphology, morphometrics, and molecules: Definition of the ophion scutellaris Thomson species group, with descriptions of six new species (hymenoptera, ichneumonidae). *Zookeys*, 462, 59-114. doi:10.3897/zookeys.462.8229
- Scott, W. R., & Davis, G. F. (2015). Organizations and organizing: Rational, natural, and open systems perspectives. New York, NY: Routledge.

- Senge, P. M. (2014). The fifth discipline fieldbook: Strategies and tools for building a learning organization. New York, NY: Crown Business.
- Shahgholian, N., &Yousefi, H. (2015). Supporting hemodialysis patients: A phenomenological study. *Iranian Journal of Nursing & Midwifery Research*, 20, 626-633. doi:10.4103/1735-9066.164514
- Shipp, A. J., Furst-Holloway, S., Harris, T. B., & Rosen, B. (2014). Gone today but here tomorrow: Extending the unfolding model of turnover to consider boomerang employees. *Personnel Psychology*, *67*, 421-462. doi:10.1111/peps.12039
- Shuck, B., Twyford, D., Reio, T. G., & Shuck, A. (2014). Human resource development practices and employee engagement: Examining the connection with employee turnover intentions. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, *25*, 239-270. doi:10.1002/hrdq.21190
- Simoneaux, S. L., & Stroud, C. L. (2014). Business best practices: Succession planning:

 Intentional and systematic preparation for the future. *Journal of Pension Benefits*,
 62-63. Retrieved from http://www.section403b.com/html/journal_
 of_pension_benefits.html
- Sipe, **S.** R., Larson, L., McKay, B. A., & Moss, J. (2016). Taking off the blinders: A comparative study of university students' changing perceptions of gender discrimination in the workplace from 2006 to 2013. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, *15*, 232-249. doi:10.5465/amle.2014.0139
- St. Pierre, E., & Jackson, A. (2014). Qualitative data analysis after coding. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 20, 715–719. doi:10.1177/1077800414532435

- Stake, R. E. (1995). *The art of case study research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Stark, J. (2015) Product lifecycle management. In: Product lifecycle management.

 *Decision Engineering, 1, 1-29. Springer, Cham. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-17440-2_1
- Starr, M. (2014). Qualitative and mixed-methods research in economics: Surprising growth, promising future. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, *28*, 238-264. doi:10.1111/joes.12004
- Steiner, A., & Atterton, J. (2014). The contribution of rural businesses to community resilience. *Local Economy*, 29, 228-244. doi:10.1177/0269094214528853
- Stengård, J., Bernhard-Oettel, C., Berntson, E., Leineweber, C., & Aronsson, G. (2016).

 Stuck in a job: Being "locked-in" or at risk of becoming locked-in at the workplace and well-being over time. *Work & Stress*, *30*, 152-172.

 doi:10.1080/02678373.2016.1163804
- Stengard, J., Bernhard-Oettel, C., Bernston, E., & Leinweber (2017). Stuck in the job:

 Does helplessness precede being locked-in at the workplace or vice versa? An analysis of cross-lagged effects. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 102(15-27). doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2017.06.001
- Strojilova, P., & Rafferty, P. D. (2013). People strategy. Understanding voluntary turnover in organizations using an illustrative case study. *Advances in Business-Related Scientific Research Journal*, *4*(2), 99-112. Retrieved from http://ajrem.newscienceseries.com/

- Storey, D. J. (2016). *Understanding the small business sector*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Sun, R., & Wang, W. (2016). Transformational leadership, employee turnover intention, and actual voluntary turnover in public organizations. *Public Management Review*, 18, 1-18. doi:10.1080/14719037.2016.1257063
- Swider, B. W., Zimmerman, R. D., Barrick, M. R. (2015). Searching for the right fit: Development of applicant person-organization fit perceptions during the recruitment process. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100, 880-893. doi:10.1037/a0038357
- Tabvuma, V., Georgellis, Y., & Lange, T. (2015). Orientation training and job satisfaction: A sector and gender analysis. *Human Resource Management*, *54*, 303-321. doi:10.1002/hrm.21650
- Teng, C. (2015). Drivers of interdependence and network convergence in social networks in virtual communities. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 14(3), 204-212. doi:10.1016/j.elerap.2015.01.004
- Thaler, K. M. (2017). Mixed methods research in the study of political and social violence and conflict. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *11*, 128-142. doi:10.117/15586898915585196.
- The U.S. Department of Labor Statistics. (2015). Job openings and employee turnover:

 March 2015. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov
- Thibaut, J. (2017). The social psychology of groups. New York, NY: Routledge.

- Tiffan, B. (2014). The art of team leadership. *Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 71, 799-801. doi:10.2146/sp140005
- Tims, M., Derks, D. and Bakker, A. B. (2016). Job crafting and its relationship with person-job fit and meaningfulness: A three-wave study. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 92, 44-53. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2015.11.007
- Treviqo, A. J., & Tilly, C. (2015). Introduction: The Sentiments and Activities of George C. Homans. In *George C. Homans: History, Theory, and Method*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Trochim, W., Donnelly, J., & Arora, K. (2015). Research methods: The essential knowledge base (2nd ed.). Boston, MA: Cengage Learning.
- Tschopp, C., Grote, G., & Gerber, M. (2014). How career orientation shapes the job satisfaction-turnover intention link. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *35*, 151-171. doi:10.1002/job.1857
- Vahlhaus, A., & Simon, C. (2014). Antecedents of engagement at managerial levels: Do formal HR practices drive manager engagement. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, *1*, 11307. doi:10.5465/ambpp.2014.11307abstract
- van Duijn, P. J., & Bonten, M. M. (2014). Antibiotic rotation strategies to reduce antimicrobial resistance in Gram-negative bacteria in European intensive care units: Study protocol for a cluster-randomized crossover-controlled trial. *Trials*, 15, 277-284. doi:10.1186/1745-6215-15-277
- Vardaman, J. M., Allen, D. G., Otondo, R. F., Hancock, J. I., Shore, L. M., & Rogers, B. L. (2016). Social comparisons and organizational support: Implications for

- commitment and retention. *Human Relations*, *69*, 1483-1505. doi:10.1177/0018726715619687
- Viet-Thi, T., Raphael, P., Bruno, F., & Ravaud, P. (2017). Point of data saturation was assessed using resampling methods in a survey with open-ended questions.
 Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 80, 88-96. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.07.014
- Wallace, M., & Sheldon, N. (2015). Business research ethics: Participant observer perspectives. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *128*, 267-277. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2102-2
- Watty-Benjamin, W., & Udechukwu, L. (2014). The relationship between HRM practices and turnover intentions: A study of government and employee organizational citizenship behavior in the Virgin Islands. *Public Personnel Management, 43,* 58-82. doi:10.1177/0091026013508546
- Wei, G., Dengsheng, L., Yanlan, W., & Jixian, Z. (2015). Mapping impervious surface distribution with integration of SNNP VIIRS-DNB and MODIS NDVI data. *Remote Sensing*, 7, 12459-12477. doi:10.3390/rs70912459
- White, D., & Hind, D. (2015). Projection of participant recruitment to primary care research: A qualitative study. *Trials*, *16*, 473-489. doi:10.1186/s13063-015-1002-9
- White, D. E., Oelke, N. D., Friesen, S. (2012). Management of a large qualitative data set: Establishing trustworthiness of the data. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 11, 244–258. doi:10.1177/160940691201100305

- Wilson, H., Dashiell-Aje, E., Anatchkova, M., Coyne, K., Hareendran, A., Leidy, N. K., . . . Wyrwich, K. (2017). Beyond study participants: A framework for engaging patients in the selection or development of clinical outcome assessments for evaluating the benefits of treatment in medical product development. *Quality of Life Research*, 2017, 1-12. doi:10.1007/s11136-017-1577-6
- Winn, J., Hall, R., & Erskine, C. (Eds.). (2017). Mass intellectuality and democratic leadership in higher education. London, England: Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Wolgemuth, J. R. (2014). Analyzing for critical resistance in narrative research. *Qualitative Research*, 14, 586-602. doi:10.1177/1468794113501685
- Wombacher, C. & Felfe, J. (2017). Dual commitment in the organization: Effects of the interlay of team and organizational commitment on employee citizenship behavior, efficacy beliefs and turnover intentions. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 102, 1-14. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2017.05.004
- Wong, A., Liu, Y., & Tjosvold, D. (2015). Service leadership for adaptive selling and effective customer service teams. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *46*, 122–131. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.01.012
- Xi, J., Kraus, S., Filser, M., & Kellermanns, F.W. (2015). Mapping the field of family business research: past trends and future directions. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 11(1), 113-132. doi:10.1007/s11365-013-0286-z

- Yafang, T. (2011). Relationship between organizational culture, leadership, and job satisfaction. *BMC Health Services Research*, *11*, 98-106. doi:10.186/1472-6963-11-9
- Yahaya, R., & Ebrahim, F. (2016). Leadership styles and organizational commitment:

 Literature review. *Journal of Management Development*, *35*, 190–216.

 doi:10.1108/JMD-01-2015-0004
- Yallop, A., & Mowatt, S. (2016). Investigating market research ethics. *International Journal of Market Research*, 58, 381-400. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2016-011
- Yan, A., & Chen, L. (2016). The effect of high-performance work system on employee behaviors and psychological empowerment [in Chinese]. *Journal of Central South University (Social Science)*, 22(3), 107-113. doi:10.3969/j.issn.1672-3104.2016.03.016
- Yang, L, Huang, C.F., Hsu, T.J. (2014). Knowledge leadership to improve project and organizational performance. *International Journal of Project Management*, 31(1), 40-53. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2013.01.011
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Yoo, J. J., & Arnold, T. J. (2014). Customer orientation, engagement, and developing positive emotional labor. *Service Industries Journal*, *34*, 1272-1288. doi:10.1080/02642069.2014.942653
- Zampetakis, L. (2014). Sales force management practices in organizations with supportive climate towards creativity. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 22, 59-72.

- Zarei, B., Chaghouee, Y. & Ghapanchi, A. H. (2014). Investigating the relationship between business process orientation and social capital. *Knowledge and Process Management*, 21(1), 67-77. doi:10.1002/kpm.1427
- Zargar, M. S., Vandenberghe, C., Marchand, C., & Ayed, A. B. (2014). Job scope, affective commitment, and turnover: The moderating role of growth needs strength. *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, 87, 280-302. doi:10.1111/joop.12046
- Zdanyte, K., & Neverauskas, B. (2014). Ensuring of sustainable development for contemporary organizations development. *Economics & Management*, 19, 120– 128. doi:10.5755/j01.em.19.1.5737
- Zhang, W., Levenson, A., & Crossley, C. (2015). Move your research from the ivy tower to the board room: A primer on action research for academics, consultants, and business executives. *Human Resource Management*, *54*, 151-174. doi:10.1002/hrm.21616
- Zhang, Y., Long, L., & Zhang, J. (2015). Pay for performance and employee creativity. *Management Decision*, 53, 1378-1397. doi:10.1108/md-11-2013-0596
- Zhao, P., Zhou, H., He, Y., Cai, K., & Fu, J. (2014). A nondestructive online method for monitoring the injection molding process by collecting and analyzing machine running data. *International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, 72, 765-777. doi:10.1007/s00170-014-5711-0

- Zheng, D., Witt, L. A., Waite, E., David, E. M., van Driel, M., McDonald, D. P., & Crepeau, L. J. (2015). Effects of ethical leadership on emotional exhaustion in high moral intensity situations. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 26, 732-748. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.01.006
- Zivnuska, S., Kacmar, K. M., & Valle, M. (2017). The mechanisms of regulatory focus: Mindfulness, leader-member exchange, and motivational outcomes. *Career Development International*, 22(1), 37-49. doi:10.118/CDI-07-2016-0120

Appendix A: Multicase Study Protocol

Employee Retention Strategies for Executive Operation Leaders in an Academic Nursing

Environment

A. Overview of the Case Study

- Mission and goals of case study are the gain an understanding of what strategies executive operation leaders use to retain employees in an academic nursing environment.
- 2. The purpose of this qualitative case study is to identify strategies business leaders use to retain employees in an academic nursing environment. The participants will include business leaders in the academic nursing environment who have successfully developed employee retention strategies. The population will include executive business leaders working in academic nursing environments in Texas, Kentucky, and Florida. The information from this case study may lead to social benefits as the results may improve the quality of nursing students graduating and ultimately improve a patient's life through superior patient care. A more experienced and qualified nurse workforce may provide optimal care to the community in which the nurses reside. Additional outcomes may include decreased healthcare costs and increased positive patient outcomes.
- 3. The nature of the investigation of a business leader's ability to retain employees and adapt to changes in the business environment necessitates a

qualitative approach and case study design. A case study design enables a researcher to frame and debate one or more cases in real-life settings to holistically explore a problem (Yin, 2014). Morse and McEvoy (2014) posited that a case study design allows a researcher to explore, examine, and contextualize varied participants' knowledge and experience into a single problem. Bryman and Bell (2015) suggested that a case study design allows a researcher to explore or examine a problem within a realistic setting.

B. Data Collection Procedures

- 1. Data collection will conform to the interviewees' schedules and availability
- 2. Open-ended semistructured questions will allow follow-up questions.
- 3. Real-world observations made at the participants' place of business require field procedure coping behaviors to:
 - a. Gain access to key organizations or interviewees
 - b. Have resources to conduct field work, viz., recording devise and notes
 - c. Develop call for assistance
 - d. Make a clear schedule of data collection activities
 - e. Provide for unanticipated events.
- C. The general orientation of the protocol questions are toward the researcher. The questions can occur at various levels including questions asked of specific interviewees, of the individual case, of the pattern of findings across multiple cases, of an entire study, and normative questions about policy recommendations and conclusions.

- 1. Define the process of retention of employees.
- 2. Collect data related to the factors involved in retention processes including:
 - a. Recruitment and interviewing protocol;
 - b. Upon offer to employee, what are the onboarding processes.
- 3. Cite evidence supporting (or not) the initial logic model in explaining how and why the practice led to success.

D. Guide for the Case Study Report

- The outline and format of this case study follows Walden University's doctoral study rubric and research handbook.
- 2. The intended audience of this content of this case study are business leaders in Texas, Kentucky and Florida, with a specific niche market of the academic nursing environment arena, regulators, state and federal policy makers, and academia.

Appendix B: Confidentiality Agreement

Name of Signer:

During the course of my activity in collecting data for this research: "Employee Retention Strategies for Executive Operation Leaders in an Academic Nursing Environment", I will have access to information, which is confidential and should not be disclosed. I acknowledge that the information must remain confidential, and that improper disclosure of confidential information can be damaging to the participant.

By signing this Confidentiality Agreement, I acknowledge and agree that:

- I will not disclose or discuss any confidential information with others, including friends or family.
- 2. I will not in any way divulge, copy, release, sell, loan, alter or destroy any confidential information except as properly authorized.
- I will not discuss confidential information where others can overhear the conversation.
 I understand that it is not acceptable to discuss confidential information even if the participant's name is not used.
- 4. I will not make any unauthorized transmissions, inquiries, modification or purging of confidential information.
- 5. I agree that my obligations under this agreement will continue after termination of the job that I will perform.
- 6. I understand that violation of this agreement will have legal implications.

7.	I will only access or use systems or devices I'm officially authorized to access and I
	will not demonstrate the operation or function of systems or devices to unauthorized
	individuals.
Signing this document, I acknowledge that I have read the agreement and I agree to	
comply with all the terms and conditions stated above.	

Date:

Signature:

Appendix C: Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use for employee retention?
- **2.** How does your interpersonal relationship with employees affect your ability to manage employee retention?
- **3.** How has onboarding impacted employee retention?
- **4.** What barriers do you experience with implementing employee retention strategies?
- **5.** How does your leadership style impact employee retention?

What additional information would you like to share on this to